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What we do
We fund projects that are aimed at 
creating competition, entrepreneurship, 
employment opportunities and export 
potential. We also bring additional 
resources to projects, encouraging  
the development of Islamic finance,  
attracting co-financiers and advising 
governments and private sector  
groups on how to establish, develop  
and modernize private enterprises  
and capital markets. We advise on  
best management practices and  
enhancing the role of the  
market economy.

WHAT WE DO
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Chairman’s Message

H.E. The Chairman, 

General Assembly of the Islamic Corporation  
for the Development of the Private Sector 

Dear Mr. Chairman,

Assalam-O-Alaikum Warahmatullah 
Wabarakatuh

In accordance with the Articles of Agreement 
and the by-laws of the Islamic Corporation for 
the Development of the Private Sector (ICD) 
and on behalf of the ICD Board of Directors, I 
am pleased to submit to the esteemed General 
Assembly the Twenty-Fourth Annual Report of 
the ICD for the fiscal year 2023. 

This report contains an overview of ICD’s 2023 
operations, including its business interventions, 
development impact and financial analysis. ICD 
will pursue all efforts to meet the aspirations  
of its shareholders.

Please accept, Mr. Chairman, the assurances  
of my highest consideration.

Dr. Muhammad Al Jasser

Chairman, Board of Directors, 
Islamic Corporation for the Development  
of the Private Sector

From the Chairman of the Board  
of Directors to the Chairman of  
the General Assembly

In the name of Allah, the 
Beneficent, the Merciful
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Message from 
Acting Chief 
Executive Officer

In the name of Allah, the 
Beneficent, the Merciful

Dear valued stakeholders,

It brings me great pleasure to present the  
Annual Report for the transformative year  
of 2023, themed “Empowering Prosperity: 
Bridging Finance for Inclusive Growth and 
Sustainable Futures.” This theme encapsulates 
our unwavering commitment to leveraging  
the role of the private sector as a catalyst for 
positive change.

In the pursuit of our core mandate of private 
sector development, 2023 witnessed a 
comprehensive strategic realignment. This 
endeavor was a crucial step in addressing 
our existing shortcomings and focusing on 
further improvement, ensuring that we are not 
just financial facilitators but true enablers of 
inclusive growth. Our commitment to private 
sector development goes beyond conventional 
boundaries, embracing the responsibility to 
empower prosperity at every level of society.

As we worked toward financial sustainability, 
updated our governance framework, and attained 
organizational excellence in 2023, the resultant 
significant turnaround was more than a corporate 
revamp – it was a reaffirmation of the private 
sector’s pivotal role in driving progress. Approvals 
and disbursements for the year soared, with 
the disbursement-to-approval ratio standing at 
82.53%, showcasing the efficiency born out of 
our dedication to excellence in every aspect of 
our operations. As a result, ICD has delivered 
USD 6.92 billion in cumulative approvals and 
more than USD 4.51 billion in disbursements 
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since inception, all of which is serving our 
mission to support private sector development. 
Concurrently, we took pride in being leaders 
in Islamic finance, actively contributing to its 
flourishing in our member countries. And it 
goes without saying that empowering SMEs 
and nurturing entrepreneurship while fostering 
innovation and facilitating their growth were 
integral components of our commitment to 
ethical and inclusive economic development.

Furthermore, our commitment to forging 
strategic partnerships, particularly with other 
multilateral development banks (MDBs) and 
stakeholders, emphasizes our understanding  
of the collaborative power of the private sector. 
By pooling resources and expertise, we amplify 
the impact of our endeavors. These partnerships 

are also integral to our dedication in advancing 
the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 
Indeed, the private sector, with its innovative 
capacities and agility, is well-positioned to 
address global challenges such as food security 
and climate change. Our ongoing collaborative 
efforts and global partnerships underscore the 
importance of collective action in achieving these 
ambitious goals.

I would like to take this opportunity to extend 
my heartfelt gratitude to our esteemed board 
members for their invaluable guidance. Their 
strategic insights have been instrumental in 
steering us toward a future where the private 
sector is not just a participant but a leader in 
inclusive growth. To our dedicated employees, 
you are the backbone of our success. Your 
commitment to excellence empowers us to 
fulfill our mandate. As we look to the future, let 
the achievements of 2023 inspire us to continue 
being pioneers in leveraging the power of the 
private sector for positive, sustainable change.

Faithfully,

Eng. Hani Salem Sonbol

Acting Chief Executive Officer
Islamic Corporation for the Development  
of the Private Sector

 
 
THESE PARTNERSHIPS ARE 
ALSO INTEGRAL TO OUR 
DEDICATION IN ADVANCING 
THE SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
(SDGs). INDEED, THE PRIVATE 
SECTOR, WITH ITS INNOVATIVE 
CAPACITIES AND AGILITY, 
IS WELL-POSITIONED TO 
ADDRESS GLOBAL CHALLENGES 
SUCH AS FOOD SECURITY AND 
CLIMATE CHANGE.
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The Islamic Corporation for the 
Development of the Private Sector 
(ICD) is a multilateral organization 
affiliated with the Islamic 
Development Bank (IsDB). This 
first section of the report outlines 
our background and purpose.

Its authorized capital stands at USD 4 billion, of 
which USD 2 billion is open for subscription. Its 
shareholders consist of the IsDB, 56 member 
countries and five public financial institutions. 
Established during the 24th annual meeting of the 
IsDB Board of Governors in Jeddah in Rajab 1420H 
(November 1999), ICD is headquartered in Jeddah.

Since its establishment in November 1999, the 
Islamic Corporation for the Development of the 

Private Sector (ICD) has consistently centered 
its efforts on fostering inclusive and dynamic 
growth through private sector development. ICD’s 
mission complements the Islamic Development 
Bank’s (IsDB) role by actively developing and 
promoting the private sector as a catalyst for 
enhancing economic growth and prosperity. With 
a vision to become a premier Islamic multilateral 
financial institution dedicated to this purpose,  
ICD stands committed to driving sustainable  
and thriving economies.

As the private sector arm of the Islamic 
Development Bank (IsDB) Group, ICD aligns its 
objectives with the principles of Shari’ah, aiming 
to: i) identify growth-oriented opportunities and 
initiatives within the private sector, ii) offer an 
extensive array of productive financial products 
and services for private sector development,  
iii) mobilize supplementary resources for the 
private sector in member countries, and  
iv) promote the advancement of Islamic  
financial and capital markets.

 1  About the Islamic 
Corporation for the 
Development of the 
Private Sector (ICD)
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Where we  
operate
 
We have been operating in these 
regions for more than 20 years, 
delivering financial services and 
supporting growth where and  
when it matters most. 
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1 Afghanistan
2 Albania
3 Algeria
4 Azerbaijan
5 Bahrain
6 Bangladesh
7 Benin
8 Brunei 
9 Burkina Faso
10 Cameroon
11 Chad
12 Comoros
13 Côte d’Ivoire
14 Djibouti
15 Egypt
16 Gabon
17 The Gambia
18 Guinea 
19 Guinea Bissau
20 Indonesia
21 Iran
22 Iraq
23 Jordan
24 Kazakhstan
25 Kuwait
26 Kyrgyz Republic
27 Lebanon
28 Libya
29 Malaysia

30 Maldives
31 Mali
32 Mauritania
33 Morocco
34 Mozambique
35 Niger
36 Nigeria
37 Sultanate of Oman
38 Pakistan
39 Palestine
40 Qatar
41 Saudi Arabia
42 Senegal
43 Sierra Leone
44 Somalia
45 Sudan
46 Suriname
47 Syria
48 Tajikistan
49 Togo
50 Tunisia 
51 Türkiye
52 Turkmenistan
53  United Arab 

Emirates
54 Uganda 
55 Uzbekistan
56 Yemen

Disclaimer: Any country borders or names 
used in this report do not necessarily reflect 
ICD’s official position. Any maps are for 
illustrative purposes and do not imply the 
expression of any opinion of ICD concerning 
the legal status of any country or territory or 
concerning the delimitation of frontiers or 
boundaries.

Find  
out  
more
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ICD Member 
Countries

  ICD HEADQUARTERS 
(JEDDAH, SAUDI ARABIA)

  REGIONAL OFFICE 
(KUALA LUMPUR, MALAYSIA) 

  REGIONAL OFFICE 
(ALMATY, KAZAKHSTAN) 

  REGIONAL OFFICE 
(DAKAR, SENEGAL)

  REGIONAL OFFICE 
(RABAT, MOROCCO)

ABOUT THE ICD
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2.1 A Snapshot of 2023

Note: In this section, the sum 
of the percentages does not 
always add up to 100.0%  
due to rounding differences.

TOTAL 
APPROVALS

USD 531.66 MILLION

77.34%
INVESTED IN THE FINANCIAL SECTOR WITH MSMEs  

AS END-BENEFICIARIES

  INDUSTRY & MINING: 

13.24%

TRANSPORTATION: 

4.72%

ENERGY: 

4.70%
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 2  ICD in numbers

The figures in this section highlight 
our achievements in 2023, along 
with cumulative data about ICD’s 
work since inception.
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1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9
10

11

 11
COUNTRIES 
REACHED

1
REGIONAL  
PROJECT

A TOTAL OF

26
PROJECTS 
APPROVED 

1.  AZERBAIJAN 
2.  BANGLADESH 
3.  BENIN 
4.  CÔTE D’IVOIRE 
5.  EGYPT  
6.  GUINEA 

7.  SAUDI ARABIA 
8.  TOGO 
9.  TÜRKIYE 
10. TURKMENISTAN  
11. UZBEKISTANN
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APPROVALS BY PRODUCT APPROVALS BY REGION

76.06%

22.66%

1.28%

APPROVALS BY SECTOR

FINANCE:

77.34%
● 21 projects

  INDUSTRY & MINING: 

13.24%
● 3 projects

TRANSPORTATION: 

4.72%
● 1 project

ENERGY: 

4.70%
● 1 project

TOTAL PROJECT  
APPROVALS

USD 531.66 M

LINE OF FINANCE:

USD 404.36 M
TERM FINANCE:

USD 120.50 M
EQUITY:

USD 6.80 M

EUROPE AND  
CENTRAL ASIA:

34.86%

ASIA: 

24.53%

MIDDLE EAST AND  
NORTH AFRICA:

20.71%

SUB-SAHARAN  
AFRICA: 

18.96%

REGIONAL:

0.94%
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2.2 2023 in Review
Since its inception, ICD’s central focus has 
been on private sector development. This 
focus is based on a recognition of the pivotal 
role of the private sector in job creation, 
unlocking export potential, and fostering 
sustainable and inclusive growth.

ICD’s commitment to fostering private sector 
growth and tackling global issues such as 
energy access and infrastructure are reflected 
in its actions. In 2023, ICD’s project approvals 
amounted to USD 531.66 million, achieved 
through extending financial support to partner 
institutions and investing in initiatives. This year’s 
approvals were categorized into line of finance 
(LOF) (76.06% share), term finance (22.66% 
share), and equity (1.28%), aligning with ICD’s 
strategic shift toward credit financing. With this, 
cumulative project approvals have now reached 
USD 6.92 billion since inception.
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DISBURSEMENTSAPPROVALS

PROJECT APPROVALS BY PRODUCT: 2023

LINE OF FINANCE:

76.06%

TERM FINANCE:

22.66%

EQUITY:

1.28%

TRENDS IN ICD PROJECT APPROVALS AND DISBURSEMENTS
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Sectorally, 77.34% of new project approvals 
were earmarked for the finance sector, followed 
by non-financial sector investments focusing 
on high-impact sectors such as industry and 
mining (13.24%), transportation (4.72%) and 
energy (4.70%). In terms of regional distribution, 
34.86% of project approvals were allocated 
to Europe and Central Asia, followed by Asia 
(24.53%), Middle East and North Africa (MENA) 
(20.71%), sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) (18.96%), 
with one regional project based in Asia (0.94%).

SECTORAL ALLOCATION OF PROJECT APPROVALS: 2023 PROJECT APPROVALS BY REGION: 2023

FINANCE:

77.34%

  INDUSTRY & MINING: 

13.24%

TRANSPORTATION: 

4.72%

ENERGY: 

4.70%

EUROPE AND  
CENTRAL ASIA:

34.86%

ASIA: 

24.53%

MIDDLE EAST AND  
NORTH AFRICA:

20.71%

SUB-SAHARAN  
AFRICA: 

18.96%

REGIONAL:

0.94%
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On disbursements, 2023 saw a significant  
increase in efficiency. With a total distribution of 
USD 438.78 million (compared to USD 310.53 
million in 2022), the finance sector made up 
the bulk of the disbursements (86.33%), while 
the remaining 13.67% went to the industry and 
mining sector. Overall, the disbursement-to-
approval ratio stood at 82.53%, a remarkable  
leap from 2022’s 54.88%. 

SECTORAL ALLOCATION OF DISBURSEMENTS: 2023

TOTAL DISTRIBUTION OF USD 2022 vs. 2023

86.33%

13.67%

2022

USD 310.53 M

OVERALL, THE DISBURSEMENT-
TO-APPROVAL RATIO STOOD AT 
82.53%, A REMARKABLE LEAP 
FROM 2022’S 54.88%.

2022

54.88%

2023

82.53%

TOTAL VALUE OF 
DISBURSEMENTS:

USD 438.78 M

FINANCE:

USD 378.80 M
INDUSTRY & MINING:

USD 59.98 M

2023

USD 438.78 M

DISBURSEMENT-TO-APPROVAL RATIO 2022 vs. 2023
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2.3 Highlights since inception
Since its inception, ICD has delivered 
approximately USD 6.92 billion in  
cumulative approvals and over  
USD 4.51 billion in disbursements  
for private sector development.

ICD has approved a total of 451 projects 
amounting to USD 6.9 billion since its inception 
in 1999. These approvals have extended 
support across diverse sectors such as finance, 
infrastructure, agriculture, manufacturing, and 
energy. ICD’s investment operations actively 
span 50 member countries, showcasing a  
wide-reaching impact across various industries.

Our approvals include: 
•  138 Line of Finance projects  

valued at USD 3.57 billion

•  168 Term Finance projects  
valued at USD 1.90 billion

•  130 Equity projects valued  
at USD 922.63 million

•  15 Funds projects valued  
at USD 532.85 million 

To date, 78.97% of approvals have been 
allocated to credit financing (term finance plus 
line of finance), followed by 13.33% in equity 
participation (institutional equity and corporate 
equity), and the remaining 7.70% in funds. 

PROJECT APPROVALS BY PRODUCT  
TOTAL PROJECT APPROVALS BY PRODUCT 

SINCE INCEPTION

LINE OF FINANCE:

51.55%

TERM FINANCE:

27.42%

EQUITY:

13.33%

FUNDS:

7.70%
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The most substantial portion of approvals  
since inception has been directed to the finance 
sector (excluding funds), focusing on SME  
finance via partner financial institutions. This 
represents 60.07% of total approvals, exceeding 
USD 4.15 billion. Following this, the industrial and 
mining sector holds the second-largest share 
(14.06%), amounting to USD 973.00 million  
in gross approvals. Funds account for 7.70%,  
while the remaining 17.25% of approvals cover 
various sectors such as energy, real estate,  
health, social services, transportation, information 
and communication, and trade. A fraction,  
USD 63.78 million (0.92% of cumulative approvals), 
has been allocated to agriculture, education, and 
water, sanitation, and waste management sectors.

FINANCE:

60.07%

INDUSTRY & MINING:

14.06%

FUNDS:

7.70%

ENERGY:

6.02%

REAL ESTATE:

3.32%

TRANSPORTATION:

2.74%

HEALTH & OTHER  
SOCIAL SERVICES:

2.62%

TRADE:

1.52%

INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION:

1.03%

AGRICULTURE:

0.71%

EDUCATION:

0.20%

WATER, SANITATION  
& WASTE MANAGEMENT:

0.02%

PROJECT APPROVALS BY SECTOR
TOTAL APPROVALS BY SECTOR SINCE INCEPTION
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PROJECT APPROVALS BY REGION
TOTAL APPROVALS BY REGION SINCE INCEPTION

DISBURSEMENT BY PRODUCT
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS BY PRODUCT SINCE INCEPTION

Our approvals showcase the extensive 
geographic scope of our operations. By the end 
of 2023, ICD’s investment initiatives extended 
across 50 member countries, encompassing 
various regional and global projects across 
diverse economies. Among these, the Europe 
and Central Asia (ECA) region accounted for 
24.23% of gross approvals, trailed closely by the 
Middle East and North Africa (MENA) at 23.85%, 
sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) at 21.14%, and the Asia 

region at 15.85%. Additionally, projects bridging 
regions and covering multiple countries accounted 
for 14.93% of gross approvals.

ICD has disbursed a total of approximately USD 
4.51 billion since inception. Disbursements vary 
according to product, with line of finance and 
term finance projects accounting for the largest 
proportion (47.25% and 33.18%, respectively). 
Equity operations accounted for 13.29%, followed 
by funds at 6.29%.

EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA:

24.23%  
MENA:

23.85% 
SUB SAHARAN AFRICA:

21.14%  

ASIA:

15.85%  
REGIONAL:

11.97%  
GLOBAL:

2.96%  

LINE OF FINANCE:

47.25%

TERM FINANCE:

33.18%

EQUITY:

13.29%

FUNDS:

6.29%
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3  Our Operations, 
Activities and 
Performance:  
2023 Highlights
In 2023, ICD’s work helped SMEs 
grow and innovate while improving 
access to Islamic finance. This 
section presents case studies  
to showcase our impact.

3.1 Supporting Bangladesh’s 
economic expansion through 
Islamic finance

Bangladesh has witnessed significant strides 
in poverty reduction alongside sustained 
economic growth. However, prevailing economic 
conditions pose challenges, particularly for 
the private sector, jeopardizing the country’s 
years of developmental progress. As a result, 

ICD strategically employed Islamic finance as a 
pivotal tool, fostering innovative and accessible 
avenues for private sector financing with the 
goal of empowering and bolstering the sector’s 
resilience and stimulating sustainable growth. 

Empowering growth: ICD’s strategic 
collaboration with Mutual Trust Bank
Mutual Trust Bank (MTB), a third-generation 
private commercial bank established as a public 
limited company in 1999, introduced an Islamic 
window (MTB Yaqeen) in May 2021. This initiative 
offers Shari’ah-compliant options for deposits, 
financing, trade, and various channel transactions 
(including ATM, cards, POS, E-Commerce) to a 
growing customer base.

Through strategic partnerships with Asian 
Development Bank (ADB) and DEG of Germany 
aimed at poverty alleviation and economic growth 
in Bangladesh, MTB has attracted investments 
from NORFUND, a Norwegian fund with a 
mandate similar to ICD’s for poverty reduction 
and private sector development.

23Empowering Prosperity: Bridging Finance for Inclusive Growth and a Sustainable Future
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MTB sought to expand its Islamic finance 
operations and support private sector enterprises 
in Bangladesh. Collaborating through Mashreq 
Bank, MTB approached ICD for partnership, 
recognizing the latter’s focus on inclusive  
growth and sustainable futures, which aligns 
with MTB’s vision.

In October 2022, ICD approved a USD 20 million 
Line of Finance (LOF) participation in a USD 60 
million syndication facilitated by Mashreq Bank. 
This financing was designated for MTB’s Islamic 
Window, targeting private sector enterprises 
in Bangladesh. The syndications featured both 
conventional and Islamic tranches, with ICD 
exclusively participating as the investment  
agent for the Islamic tranche.

Developmental Impact: Inclusive  
Growth and Sustainable Finance
The structured LOF aimed to benefit private 
sector actors, notably micro, small- and medium-
sized enterprises (MSMEs), focusing on key 
sectors pivotal for Bangladesh’s economic 
diversification and aligned with the theme 
of inclusive growth and sustainable finance. 
Target sectors included agriculture, cycling, 
pharmaceuticals, packaging, and manufacturing, 
promoting sustainable practices and economic 
development.

The financing aligned with ICD’s SDG framework, 
contributing to SDGs 3, 7, 8 and 9: Good Health 
and Well-being, Affordable and Clean Energy, 
Decent Work and Economic Growth, and 
Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure.

The LOF facilitated support to 550 SME clients, 
with 65 being women-led SMEs, resulting in the 
creation of 61 jobs, 53 of which were allocated 
to women. This initiative exemplifies a concerted 
effort toward inclusive economic growth and 
sustainable development in Bangladesh.
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3.2 Ground-breaking local 
currency financing partnership 
in Kazakhstan

In 2023, ICD marked a significant milestone by 
extending its inaugural local currency Line of 
Finance (LOF) of 2.0 billion Kazakhstan Tenge 
(KZT) (equivalent to USD 4.4 million) to “Leasing 
Group” JSC in Kazakhstan. This transaction 
operated under the first local currency Sukuk 
Programme in KZT, established as part of ICD’s 
resource mobilization initiative to bolster its LOF 
operations in Kazakhstan and promote private 
sector development in the country.

The Joint-Stock Company “Leasing Group” 
(the company) was founded in 2005 in Almaty, 
Kazakhstan. Specializing in leasing products, 
it primarily serves small and medium-sized 
businesses spanning various industries and has 
been listed on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange 
since 2018. The company, a new partner for ICD, 
had not previously received financing from ICD.

This ground-breaking Sukuk-LOF transaction, 
combining ICD’s local currency Sukuk issuance 
and Shari’ah-compliant LOF operation, signifies 
a pioneering step for ICD and holds the potential 
for replication in other member countries, 
enabling ICD to fund in local currencies. This 
local currency facility aligns with several SDGs, 
notably SDG8 – Decent Work and Economic 
Growth, SDG9 – Industry, Innovation and 
Infrastructure, and SDG17 – Partnership  
for the Goals.

COMBINING ICD’S 
LOCAL CURRENCY 
SUKUK ISSUANCE 
AND SHARI’AH-
COMPLIANT LOF 
OPERATION, SIGNIFIES 
A PIONEERING STEP 
FOR ICD.
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INVEST ENGAGE IMPACT

INVEST–ENGAGE–IMPACT APPROACH

3.3 Providing access to 
Shari’ah-compliant funding  
for private sector enterprises  
in Egypt

In 2023, ICD expanded its financial support by 
offering a new LOF facility to Al Baraka Bank 
Egypt (ABBE) within a syndicated financing 
arrangement totaling up to USD 50 million. ICD 
contributed USD 30 million and assumed the role 
of Lead Arranger and Investment Agent of the 
syndicated facility.

ABBE is a new LOF client for ICD, representing 
an Islamic bank predominantly owned by the Al 
Baraka Group, a renowned Islamic banking entity 
headquartered in Bahrain. This facility allowed 
ICD to expand its presence in Egypt, setting an 
example to support the growth of the Islamic 
finance sector within the country.

The facility allocated to ABBE is intended for 
the financing of eligible projects sponsored 
by registered project companies in Egypt, 
emphasizing support for environmentally 
sustainable projects through Murabaha, Ijara, 
or other Shari’ah-compliant financing modes. 
The focus is on directing the facility towards 
private sector projects, notably benefiting SMEs 
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and enhancing their access to finance. Besides 
fostering awareness about Islamic finance 
products and services in the banking sector, the 
robust project pipeline anticipated for financing 
is poised to yield substantial developmental 
impact. Furthermore, it is anticipated that this 
facility will bolster the Bank’s financing portfolio, 
consequently enhancing its profitability.

This initiative is expected to align with at least six 
SDGs: SDG1 (No Poverty), SDG3 (Good Health & 
Well-Being), SDG7 (Affordable and Clean Energy), 
SDG8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth), 
SDG9 (Industry, Innovation, and Infrastructure), 
and SDG17 (Partnership for the Goals). Utilizing 
the Invest–Engage–Impact approach, the project 
directly invests in SDG8, engages SDG17, and 
impacts SDG1, SDG3, SDG7, and SDG9.

ICD CONTRIBUTED

USD 30 MILLION
AND ASSUMED THE ROLE 
OF LEAD ARRANGER AND 
INVESTMENT AGENT OF  
THE SYNDICATED FACILITY.

OUR OPERATIONS, ACTIVITIES AND PERFORMANCE: 2023 HIGHLIGHTS
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3.4 Expanding support to 
Guinea’s private sector through 
BCI-Guinea financing initiative

In 2023, ICD extended a USD 10 million line of 
financing facility to Banque pour le Commerce et 
l’Industrie Guinée (BCI-Guinea) in Guinea.

Established on July 2nd, 2012, in alignment with 
BCI Group’s expansion plans in West Africa, BCI 
Guinea operates from Conakry, Guinea’s capital. 
Functioning as a commercial bank, BCI Guinea 
engages in financing both private and public 
sectors. Despite facing a challenging socio-
economic environment and increased competition, 
the bank has effectively addressed client needs 
through its strong understanding of the local 
market and efficient commercial strategies. 
Consequently, the bank has augmented its market 
share (measured by total assets) to 4.44% in 2022, 
up from 3.47% in the previous year.

BCI Guinea is utilizing the extended facility to 
provide financial assistance and fortify Guinea’s 
private sector, particularly small and medium-
sized enterprises (SMEs), in eligible sectors. The 
bank has presented a pipeline of potential eligible 
projects totaling USD 20 million, indicating its 
significant absorption capacity.

THE BANK HAS PRESENTED 
A PIPELINE OF POTENTIAL 
ELIGIBLE PROJECTS 
TOTALING  
 
USD 20 MILLION
INDICATING ITS 
SIGNIFICANT ABSORPTION 
CAPACITY.
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3.5 ICD’s strategic financing 
initiative supports Egypt Kuwait 
Holding Company’s expansion 
plans and share acquisitions

In May 2022, the ICD Board approved a USD 
40 million Shari’ah-compliant financing for six 
years to Egypt Kuwait Holding (EKH) to support 
its expansion, particularly for the subsidiary 
North Sinai Concession (NSCO). However, EKH 
deferred the transaction due to increased liquidity 
from divestments and improved performance 
in the fertilizer and energy segments. Recently, 
EKH renewed interest in the financing discussion 
to support 2023 initiatives, including share 
acquisitions in Bawabat Al Kuwait Holding (BKH) 
to increase ownership beyond the existing 
71.67% stake.

BKH, the majority stakeholder of AlexFert, a 
prominent producer and exporter of nitrogen-
based fertilizers in Egypt, is a pivotal part 
of EKH’s acquisition plans. Augmenting its 
ownership in BKH will consequently boost  
EKH’s indirect ownership in AlexFert, a key  
player in the realm of food security.

Transaction Overview
BKH, a specialized investment entity in Kuwait, 
saw EKH holding and controlling 64.5% of its 
shares by 31 December 2022. EKH’s ongoing 
efforts aim to procure an additional 20% stake 
from minority shareholders with an estimated 
transaction value of about USD 100 million. EKH 
targeted a 91% ownership in BKH by the end 
of 2023, having already acquired around 7% of 
BKH’s shares through internal resources. BKH, 
a debt-free entity, solely operates AlexFert in 
Egypt, owning 60% of its shares. 

ICD’s financing aims to support EKH’s share 
acquisition endeavors, secured by a corporate 
guarantee from NSCO, a subsidiary dedicated 
to natural gas exploration and production, and a 
security interest in specific BKH shares with pre-
agreed coverage percentages and mechanisms.
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Founded in 1997 by Kuwaiti and Egyptian 
business leaders, EKH is a publicly listed 
company on the Egyptian Exchange and the 
Kuwait Stock Exchange. Over two decades, 
EKH has emerged as a leading investment 
entity in the MENA region, diversifying its 
portfolio across various sectors, including 
fertilizers, petrochemicals, gas production, 
electricity distribution, power generation, 
insurance, and microfinance. In Egypt’s  
energy sector, EKH stands as the sole fully 
integrated company. Its portfolio companies 
employ over 6,500 individuals, with potential 
for further job creation amid company and 
investment growth.

Demonstrating consistent financial prowess, 
EKH’s consolidated financial statements  
as of 9M23 showcased revenues of  
USD 588.4 million, well above the pre-
Russia-Ukraine war historical average, while 
maintaining strong profitability levels, with  
a net income margin at 29%. As at 9M23,  
its consolidated total assets amounted to  
USD 1.92 billion, with shareholders’ equity 
reaching USD 636.1 million. Despite  
challenges during the COVID pandemic,  
the company maintained robust performance 
across sectors.

EKH Profile
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THIS MARKS EKH’S MAIDEN 
VENTURE INTO SHARI’AH-
COMPLIANT FINANCING, 
WHICH, GIVEN ITS SIZE AND 
TREASURY OPERATIONS, 
MAY BOLSTER FUTURE 
DEMAND FOR SUKUK AND 
OTHER SHARI’AH COMPLIANT 
FINANCIAL PRODUCTS.

Developmental Impact
The proposed financing aligns with the 
country’s vision to engage the private sector in 
strategic sectors, particularly gas and electricity. 
Additionally, this marks EKH’s maiden venture 
into Shari’ah-compliant financing, which, given its 
size and treasury operations, may bolster future 
demand for Sukuk and other Shari’ah compliant 
financial products.

The financing targets SDGs 7 (Affordable  
and Clean Energy), 8 (Decent Work and 
Economic Growth), 9 (Industry, Innovation  
and Infrastructure) and 11 (Sustainable Cities 
and Communities).
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3.6 ICD approves full exit from 
Islamic Bank of Guinea (BIG)

ICD’s investment in the Islamic Bank of Guinea 
(BIG) dates to 2009 when ICD management 
made a strategic decision to acquire shares 
of BIG from the Darul Maal Islami Trust. ICD 
initially acquired a 50.01% stake in the Bank and, 
through subsequent capital injections worth USD 
8.8 million, came to own 68.45% of the bank. 
ICD’s shares in BIG were transferred to Tamweel 
Africa Holding in 2009.  

Though the Bank went through several financial 
and governance challenges in its early stages, 
significant progress has been made in recent 
years following a change in its management 
and strategic shift. Since then, the Bank has 
continued to create intrinsic value and to deliver 
its franchise value to various stakeholders, 
including potential investors. Some notable 
highlights are as follows:

•  BIG achieved sustained financial profitability in 
2022 despite significant management changes 
that year and continues to be on the path to 
sustainable growth.

•  In terms of its financial portfolio, BIG achieved 
a CAGR of 21.1% for the period of 2018-2022 
while deposits achieved a CAGR of 38.3% for 
the same period.

ICD approved a full exit of BIG in 2023 after 
achieving core strategic and developmental 
milestones. The proposed divestment is the 
result of ICD’s continuous effort in rebalancing 
its equity portfolio in a timely manner as per 
the Board-approved Exit Policy, by taking into 
consideration both financial and developmental 
objectives.

 IN TERMS OF ITS 
FINANCIAL PORTFOLIO, 
ISLAMIC BANK OF GUINEA 
(BIG) ACHIEVED A CAGR OF  
 
 21.1%  
FOR THE PERIOD OF  
2018-2022.
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4  ICD Synergies  
and Partnerships

4.1 Leveraging Partnerships  
for Inclusive Growth 

In the dynamic landscape of global challenges, 
the IsDB Group recognizes the pressing issues 
confronting its member countries, as well as 
many other nations worldwide, ranging from  
food insecurity and climate change to poverty, 
gender inequality, and economic disparities. 
The gravity of these interconnected challenges 
demands urgent, concerted action and 
collaborative solutions on a global scale.

ICD engages with numerous 
stakeholders with the aim of 
increasing the role of the private 
sector in addressing global 
development challenges. In 
this section, we highlight how 
strategic partnerships contribute 
to ICD’s outcomes.

ICD firmly believes that the path to  
sustainable development requires effective 
multilateral partnerships and robust  
engagement with communities and  
stakeholders. In this context, the private  
sector emerges as a pivotal force, leveraging  
its innovative capacities, technological  
expertise, and financial contributions to  
address the world’s most pressing issues.

Throughout the year 2023, ICD strategically 
harnessed its extensive network of  
partnerships, comprising multilateral 
development banks, development finance 
institutions, sovereign wealth funds, financial 
institutions, central banks, and technical  
advisors. Aligned with our core mandate,  
ICD’s primary focus remains on fostering private 
sector development through tailored financing 
solutions, contributing significantly to the 
attainment of the SDGs.

In pursuit of our objectives, ICD identified like-
minded partners sharing common mandates 
and objectives. This led to the establishment 
of numerous strategic partnerships and 
collaborative initiatives, poised to generate 
enduring synergies that will propel us towards 
the realization of sustainable and impactful 
development outcomes.
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4.2 ICD Partnerships in 2023

1. Technical Coordination Committee (TCC)

ICD collaborated closely with IsDB Group entities, particularly ITFC 
and ICIEC, fostering stronger intra-group partnerships through 
regular TCC meetings and CEOs Meetings.

NUMBER OF JOINT EVENTS ORGANIZED

ACHIEVEMENT TARGET

31 20

AMOUNT OF FINANCING APPROVED (LOF) 

ACHIEVEMENT TARGET

USD 394 MILLION USD 200 MILLION

31
JOINT EVENTS WERE 
ORGANIZED OUT OF AN 
ORIGINAL TARGET OF 20 
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(Egypt, Tunisia, Togo, Benin, Senegal, 
Mauritania, Cameroon)

COUNTRY PROGRAMS DEVELOPED 
UNDER THE ARAB AFRICA TRADE 

BRIDGES (AATB) PROGRAM

ACHIEVEMENT TARGET

7 4

NUMBER OF LOF TRANSACTIONS SHARED

NUMBER OF JOINT BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES  

– PHYSICAL OR VIRTUAL 

ACHIEVEMENT TARGET

13 4

IN PURSUIT OF OUR 
OBJECTIVES, ICD 
IDENTIFIED LIKE-MINDED 
PARTNERS SHARING 
COMMON MANDATES  
AND OBJECTIVES. 

7
COUNTRY PROGRAMS 
DEVELOPED UNDER AATB 
OUT OF AN ORIGINAL 
TARGET OF 4 

ACHIEVEMENT TARGET

16 15

1  Vista Bank (Regional)

2   ECOWAS Bank for Investment and 
Development (EBID) (Regional)

3   The Eastern and Southern Trade and 
Development Bank (TDB) (Regional)

4  Rabitabank (Azerbaijan)

5  Turanbank (Azerbaijan)

6  Banque Misr (Egypt)

7  Albaraka Egypt

8  National Bank of Egypt

9  Banque Malienne de Solidarité (Mali)

10  Eskhata (Tajikistan)

11  Ziraat Katilim (Türkiye)

12  Vakif Katilim Bank (Türkiye)

13  Golden Global Bank (Türkiye)

14  Rysgal Bank (Turkmenistan)

15  Mikrokreditbank (Uzbekistan)

16  Asakabank (Uzbekistan)

2
1

3

4 5

6
7 8

9

10
11

12 13
14

15 16

ICD SYNERGIES AND PARTNERSHIPS
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2.  Newly established partnerships and MOUs 
on pipeline sharing and co-financing

 
EMIRATES INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT 

COMPANY (EIIC)

 

 
CAPITAL TRUST (MOROCCO)

 
OCP AFRICA

ITHMAR FUND 
(MOROCCO)

POWER CEMENT (PAKISTAN) ITFC

AL SALAM BANK ALGERIA ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND (ISDF)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE EASTERN AND SOUTHERN AFRICAN TRADE 
AND DEVELOPMENT BANK (TDB)

4.2 ICD Partnerships in 2023 (Continued)
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•  Co-financing opportunities and pipeline 
projects and further co-operation

3.  Strategic engagements and workshops with DFIs, MDBs and IFIs on 
opportunities for enhanced cooperation on:

 ASIAN INFRASTRUCTURE 
INVESTMENT BANK (AIIB)

PROPARCO AFD

EMIRATES INTERNATIONAL 
INVESTMENT COMPANY (EIIC)

AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

EUROPEAN BANK FOR 
RECONSTRUCTION AND 
DEVELOPMENT (EBRD)

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
CORPORATION (IFC) TÜRKIYE

•  Knowledge sharing

L’ASSOCIATION DES BANQUES ET ETABLISSEMENTS FINANCIERS (ABEF)

> On Sukuk advisory.

 
 
 

UNITED GULF FINANCIAL SERVICES-NORTH AFRICA (UGFS)

>  On deepening the comprehension of the fundamental principles 
underpinning local currency Sukuk and emphasizing the significance of 
establishing a conducive legal and regulatory environment within the 
capital market domain.

 
 
 
BRITISH INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT (BII)

>  On the IsDB Group Food Security Response Program (FSRP) and 
prevalent food security challenges in member countries. 

  
 
HOSTING THE 2023 INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CLUB 
(IDFC)  SHERPA MEETING

>  In March 2023, ICD hosted the inaugural IDFC Sherpa Meeting in 
Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, bringing together leading DFIs from across 
the globe to enhance efforts toward sustainable development and 
inclusive growth. The two-day event included dialogues on sustainable 
finance, impact investing, and the pivotal role of development finance in 
achieving the SDGs. 

ICD SYNERGIES AND PARTNERSHIPS
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Top: A defining moment  
of partnership: ICD Acting 
CEO alongside Dr. Heba 
Ahmed, proudly showcasing 
the signed agreement for 
the innovative Cash Waqf 
Sukuk initiative. A strategic 
alliance to foster economic  
development and solidarity.

Below: ICD professionals 
in action, elevating their 
skills and expertise through 
the LEAP (Leadership, 
Excellence, and Professional 
Development) training 
program.

4.3 Event Highlights in Photos

ICD hosts various events each year, 
and here we showcase a selection  
of photos capturing the highlights. 
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Main and top right: During 
the Arab SMEs Summit, 
Eng. Hani Salem Sonbol 
offers insightful discourse 
on harnessing Islamic 
finance for regional 
growth, emphasizing ICD’s 
initiatives in promoting 
sustainable development 
and strengthening SMEs.

Above: ICD warmly 
welcomed a distinguished 
delegation from Oman’s 
Ministry of Finance, 
sharing insights into our 
services and exploring 
future collaborations. 
Grateful for this exchange 
and excited for future joint 
developmental endeavors.
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Mr. Osman Buyukmutlu, ICD’s 
Director of Strategy, meets with 
Mr. Mahmut Asmali, President of 
the Independent Industrialists and 
Businessmen’s Association of Türkiye 
(MUSIAD) to discuss potential 
partnership opportunities.



Left: ICD IT team celebrates  
a digital leap forward, with 
over one million documents 
now securely stored in the 
cloud. A momentous step 
towards operational excellence 
and sustainability.

Middle and bottom right:  
Eng. Hani Salem Sonbol  
leads an ICD delegation  
to Morocco, forging  
partnerships and exploring 
new horizons for economic 
collaboration.

Top right: ICD hosted the 
inaugural IDFC Sherpa 
Meeting in Jeddah, Saudi 
Arabia, bringing together 
leading DFIs from across 
the globe to enhance 
efforts toward sustainable 
development and inclusive 
growth.
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‘Cross-Border Deal of the Year’ and ‘Pakistan 
Deal of the Year’ 2019 for the dual-currency 
financing facility for NASDA Green Energy’s 
50 MW wind power project 
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2020

Outstanding Contribution to ESG Responsible 
Financial Innovation Global 2019
Capital Finance International (CFI) 2019

The Best Human Capital Development 
Program 2017
Global Islamic Finance Awards (GIFA)

Sovereign Deal of the Year 2016
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2017

The Most Outstanding Institution for 
Contribution to Islamic Finance
Kuala Lumpur Islamic Finance Forum (KLIFF) 
2015

‘Africa Deal of the Year’ for the CFA 100 billion 
inaugural sovereign Sukuk from the Republic 
of Senegal in July
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2015

4.4 Awards & Recognition  
To Date 

IFN Emerging Islamic Markets Deal of  
the Year 2022 for River Med Pharm’s  
USD 4 million financing in collaboration  
with Asia Alliance Bank
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2023

BRAVE Project earns Honorable Mention  
in Global SME Finance Awards
Global SME Finance Awards 2022

Best Contributor to the Islamic Finance 
Industry 
AlHuda Centre of Islamic Banking &  
Economics 2021

‘The Kuwait Deal of the Year’ for the  
Kuwait International Bank’s USD 300 million 
Tier 2 Sukuk 
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2021

‘The Social Impact/SRI/ ESG Deal of the Year’ 
for IsDB’s USD 1.5 billion Sustainable Sukuk
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2021
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‘Cross-border Deal of the Year’ for the 
landmark USD 100 million commodity 
Murabahah transaction with Bank of  
Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ in September
Islamic Finance News (IFN) 2015

The Award of Excellence for Outstanding 
Contribution to the Development of Islamic 
Finance in the Private Sector
The London Sukuk Summit 2015

The Islamic Economy Award – The Money  
and Finance Category
Dubai Chamber of Commerce and Industry  
and Thomson Reuters 2015

Best Islamic Finance Initiative Award
African Banker Magazine 2015

Best Development Bank
CPI Financial 2015

Excellence in Development of the 
Islamic Private Sector – MENA 2014
International Finance Magazine 2014

‘Best Islamic Leasing Provider’ and  
‘Best Islamic Finance Advisor
CMO Organization 2014

Islamic Banking Business Excellence Award
Acquisition International Magazine 2014

Islamic Bank of the Year
ACQ Global Awards 2014

Best Private Sector Developer – Middle East
IAIR Awards on Global Economy and 
Sustainability 2014

Best Development Bank
CPI Financial 2014

Best Islamic Financial Initiative
Tatweej Academy for Excellence Awards 2013

The Institutional Excellence Award 2012
The World Islamic Banking Conference (WIBC) 
2012

ICD SYNERGIES AND PARTNERSHIPS
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5.1 Developments in 2023 

1.  ICD co-hosted the Harmonized 
Indicators for the Private Sector 
Operations (HIPSO) Annual Meeting 
in London with the EBRD

Addressing the challenge of diverse reporting 
systems among DFIs, the Harmonized Indicators 
for Private Sector Operations (HIPSO) has 
worked since 2008 to standardize indicators 
and alleviate the reporting burden on shared 
clients. Since joining HIPSO in 2018, ICD is part 
of a growing network of 28 DFIs, contributing 
to expanding HIPSO’s metrics from 38 to 162, 
aligned with SDGs. Notable developments 
include the drafting of Joint Impact Indicators 
(JII) in 2021 for cross-cutting themes such as 
job, gender, and climate. The JII represents 
a major step forward for harmonized impact 
measurement and reporting. 

Achieving development 
effectiveness is fundamental 
to ICD’s purpose as a 
development finance 
institution. This section 
explains how we monitor  
and measure our impact.

5  Development 
Effectiveness (DE)
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Against this backdrop, ICD, in collaboration 
with EBRD, hosted HIPSO’s Annual Meeting 
in London with the theme “Leveraging HIPSO 
to strengthen impact management.”. The 
meeting emphasized leveraging HIPSO to 
strengthen impact management, fostering 
collaboration, and sharing knowledge on metrics, 
impact management systems, and evaluation 
methodologies. It provided an update on 
institutional strategies and the implementation of 
new metrics, promoting common reporting and 
learning among member institutions.

Outcomes of the HIPSO  
2023 Annual Meeting included:

•  Common understanding of the newly 
developed and enhanced indicators.

•  Better understanding and assessment of the 
extent to which new metrics are being used 
in DFIs’ impact frameworks.

•  Highlighted how HIPSO is being leveraged 
for impact investing and how it can further 
be used to influence standard setting in the 
impact investing space.

•  Shared knowledge on traditional and innovative 
approaches to results measurement and 
impact evaluation for private sector operations.

•  Strengthened partnership and cooperation 
amongst HIPSO members and private  
sector partners.

Moving forward, HIPSO remains crucial in 
mainstreaming best practices for monitoring 
development impact, ensuring widespread 
availability to non-DFI partners. Beyond metrics, 
HIPSO fosters a culture of knowledge-sharing 
and learning among partners.
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THE HIPSO 
INDICATORS ARE 
ALSO IN ALIGNMENT 
WITH THE SDGs.
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2.  Introduction of the Project 
Assessment Grading System (PAGS)

PAGS is a robust in-house customized tool 
which will help guide ICD to assess its 
interventions not only from a risk perspective, 
but also from a development perspective. 
ICD’s M&E team has developed PAGS to 
assess its potential proposals in terms  
of development effectiveness, which is  
a requirement for ICD to ensure it distributes 
its resources in the most sustainable  
and efficient manner. 
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•  Interventions are  
assessed by:

>  Overall contribution to the 
targeted SDGs

>  HIPSO indicators

•  Analysing financial 
performance of the projects

• Risk score model

•  Focus includes but not  
limited to:

> Job creation

>  Development of the SME 
sector

>  Development of the Islamic 
Finance sector

•  Assesses the unique 
contribution of ICD beyond 
what is available in the  
market based on:

> Financial additionality

>  Non-Financial Additionality

•  Member countries rankings 
developed by internal teams  
based on:

> Market attractiveness Index

> Private Sector Development
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The objectives of PAGS include:

•  Estimate the development impact of 
interventions submitted for approval;

•  Identify interventions that maximize  
ICD’s development impact at appraisal;

•  Provide evidence for effectiveness  
and accountability;

•  Assign ratings/scoring of expected 
performance based on how well the 
intervention aims to contribute to  
ICD’s goals;

•  Promote and support client/partner 
engagement towards impact alongside 
financial return.



5.2. 2023 Development 
Effectiveness Survey Results

ICD conducts an annual survey to systematically 
collect data on the contributions of its clients 
and partners towards addressing the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) and to evaluate the 
specific developmental impacts they have made.

N
um

be
r o

f clients who gained access to

Is
la

m
ic 

f n

ance since ICD intervention

751 ,340
Number of new Islamic  

f n

ance clients in 2023

93 ,092

2022

Women-led/managed  SMEs funded

610

Total amount of fundingto SMEs

U
SD 189 ,534 , 138

Number of jobs
sustained

89 ,2 26

Number of women
jobs sustained

24 ,4 03

Export sales generated

U
SD 466 ,577 ,618Spending on community  development

USD 3 ,778 ,423

Total KWh energy
produced

1 ,207 ,5 45 , 018

Total patients served

2 ,036 ,492

KEY
  Islamic Finance Inclusion:  

Milestones and 2023 Highlights
  Empowering Women Through  

Islamic Finance
   Supporting SMEs and Financial Growth
   Economic and Community  

Development
  Infrastructure and Capacity 

Building
  Training and Capacity  

Development
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Note: The ICD Annual Development 
Effectiveness Survey included specifc 
questions regarding the contribution of 
ICD-supported projects to the SDGs. Further 
information can be found in the 2023 Annual 
Development Effectiveness Report.

Number of new clients
who are women

30 ,402

2 ,480

SMEs supported through  ICD f nancing

W
om

en in senior management  

positions

436

To

tal M
W Energy Capacityf nanced

3 ,714

Number of new

women jobs created

2 ,7 81

Taxes collected for

go
vernment revenues

U
SD 126 ,794 ,690

Total farmers reached

6 ,462

Number of new
jobs created

14 ,7 00

Total students enrolled

30 ,473

Total housing units

1 ,063

Number of people trained

3 ,337
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6  Our governance
ICD is dedicated to the principles 
of good governance. In this 
section, we show how the 
strategic involvement of the  
Board, senior leadership, and a 
talented workforce, collaboratively 
shapes an organization focused  
on empowering the private sector  
for the future.

6.1 General Assembly

The General Assembly is the highest decision-
making authority. Each member is represented 
at the General Assembly by an appointed 
representative. The main function of the General 
Assembly is to lay down the policies governing 
the work and general supervision of ICD. It may 
delegate authority to the Board of Directors 
to exercise any of its powers, except those 
reserved to the General Assembly under the 
Articles of Agreement.

6.2 Board of Directors (BOD)

The BOD is mainly responsible for the adoption 
of policies, the operations strategy, budget, and 
general conduct of ICD operations within the 
powers delegated to it by the General Assembly. 
The Board consists of ten members (including 
the Chairman) and is chaired by the President 
of the IsDB Group. Other members include: 
the representatives of IsDB, member country 
groups from Africa, Asia, and Arab Asia, public 
financial institutions, and a permanent member 
from Saudi Arabia (representing the member 
country having the largest number of shares of 
the Corporation).

In accordance with the Articles of Agreement, 
the BOD shall meet when the business of 
the corporation requires, and a majority of the 
members of the Board shall constitute a quorum 
for any meeting, provided that such majority 
represents at least two-thirds of the total voting 
powers of the members. A special meeting may 
also be called at any time by the Chairman or at 
the request of three members of the Board. 

Members of the BOD appointed by IsDB shall 
have the votes of the IsDB divided equally 
among them, and each member of the BOD is 
entitled to cast a number of votes equivalent 
to the number of votes which were counted 
towards his or her election, and which the 
electing members of ICD were entitled to.
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The BOD is authorized as per the corporation’s 
by-laws to exercise all the powers of the 
corporation, with the exception of the powers 
reserved to the General Assembly, as well as 
establishing conditions and procedures pursuant 
to which the Chairman of the Board may submit 
various types of matters under an expedited 
procedure. 

Board of Directors as of end 2023 

1.  H.E. Dr. Muhammad Al Jasser  
(Chairman of the Board) 

2. H.E. Dr. Hamad Suleiman Al Bazai
3.  H.E. Ismail Ali Manik 
4. Hon. Dr. Rami Ahmad
5.  Hon. Tamerlan Taghiyev 
6.  Hon. Wesam Jasem Al Othman 
7. Hon. Moufida Jaballah Srarfi 
8.  Hon. Dr. Fahad M. Alturki
9.  Hon. Abdulrahman Abdullah Alsakran 
10. Hon. Hamad Madi Al-Hajri 

H.E. Dr. Muhammad 
Al Jasser  

H.E. Dr. Hamad 
Suleiman Al Bazai

H.E. Ismail Ali Manik Hon. Dr. Rami Ahmad Hon. Tamerlan 
Taghiyev 

Hon. Wesam Jasem 
Al Othman 

Hon. Moufida 
Jaballah Srarfi

Hon. Dr. Fahad M. 
Alturki

Hon. Abdulrahman 
Abdullah Alsakran 

Hon. Hamad Madi 
Al-Hajri
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6.3 Executive Committee

The BOD appoints an Executive Committee (EC) 
from its members that serves as a fast-track 
decision-making body. The EC has the power to 
approve all financing and investment operations, 
review the performance of existing investments 
and financing operations and ensuring their 
alignment with ICD’s developmental mandate, 
review ICD’s progress in achieving its development 
effectiveness mandate, review and recommend 
ICD’s Business Plans, and review and recommend 
the annual budget of ICD in addition to other 
powers delegated to the EC by the Board. 

The EC is composed of up to six members, of 
which two seats are allocated permanently to the 
Chairman of the Board and the representative 
from the member country having the largest 
number of shares in ICD (Saudi Arabia), 
respectively. The EC members are rotated  
on a yearly basis, enabling all Board members  
the opportunity to serve on the committee. 

Executive Committee Members of the  
Board as of end 2023

1.  H.E. Dr. Muhammad Al Jasser  
(Chairman of ICD Board of Directors) 

2. Hon. Dr. Fahad M. Alturki
3.  H.E. Dr. Hamad Sulaiman Al Bazai
4. H.E. Ismail Ali Manik
5. Hon. Wesam Jasem Al Othman

THE EC HAS THE POWER TO 
APPROVE ALL FINANCING 
AND INVESTMENT 
OPERATIONS, REVIEW THE 
PERFORMANCE OF EXISTING 
INVESTMENTS AND 
FINANCING OPERATIONS 
AND ENSURING THEIR 
ALIGNMENT WITH ICD’S 
DEVELOPMENTAL MANDATE.
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6.4 Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee

The purpose of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee (NRC) is to assist the BOD in 
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities regarding 
remuneration and human resources matters. The 
NRC is composed of four members including one 
independent member with relevant expertise and 
education in Human Resources Management. 
The membership of the NRC is based on annual 
rotation of the members of the BOD.

Nomination & Remuneration Committee  
of the Board as of end 2023

1. Hon. Abdulrahman A. Al Sakran
2. Hon. Hamad Madi Al-Hajri
3. Hon. Mrs. Moufida J. SRARFI 

6.5 Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee

The BOD appoints an Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee (ARCC) from among its members  
for a three-year term. The Committee has 
oversight responsibilities over the ICD Audit, 
Risk and Compliance functions, and it reports 
its findings to the BOD. The ARCC is composed 
of four members: three members from the 
appointed members of the Board, and one 
independent expert member appointed by the 
BOD. The members of the committee serve for 
the full three years commensurate with their 
term on the BOD.

Board Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee  
as of end 2023

1.  Hon. Dr. Fahad M. Alturki (Chairman)
2.  Hon. Tamerlan Taghıyev 
3.  Hon. Wesam Jasem Al Othman
4.  Hon. Saleh Mugbel Al Khalaf  

(Independent Expert Member)

6.6 The Chief Executive Officer 

The CEO, under the general supervision of the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, conducts the day-to-day 
business of ICD. The CEO is also responsible for the 
appointment of the officers and staff of the Corporation. 
To the extent that he is authorized by the BOD, the CEO 
approves ICD’s financing and investment. The BOD 
appointed Eng. Hani Sonbol as the Acting Chief Executive 
Officer of ICD on 16/02/1444H (12/09/2022).

6.7 IsDB Group Shari’ah Board

In 2012, the ICD Shari’ah Board was subsumed within 
that of IsDB, forming the IsDB Group Shari’ah Board. The 
Board is responsible for advising the IsDB Group on the 
Shari’ah compliance of its products and transactions.  

The IsDB Group Shari’ah Board consists of the following 
eminent scholars: 

IsDB Group Shari’ah Board as of end 2023

1.   Dr. Mohammad Ali Ibrahim Al-Qari 
2.   Dr. Nizam Muhammad Saleh Yaqoubi 
3.   Dr. Aznan Hasan
4.   Dr. Sa’id Adekunle Mikail
5.   Mufti Muhammad Hassan Kalem

59

OUR GOVERNANCE

Empowering Prosperity: Bridging Finance for Inclusive Growth and a Sustainable Future 



6.8 ICD Management

1.    Eng. Hani Sonbol, Acting Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
2.    Mr. Mohammed Ataur Chowdhury, Officer in Charge, Equity Department
3.    Mr. Mohammad Asheque Moyeed, Acting Director of Banking
4.    Mr. Omar Hashem, Director of Corporate Services & Digitalization and 

Acting Director of Human Resources
5.    Mr. Osman Buyukmutlu, Director of Strategy
6.    Dr. Mohammed Alyami, Director of Development  

Effectiveness Office
7.    Dr. Mansur Noibi, Director of Legal & Compliance
8.    Mr. Samer Babelli, Director of Finance 
9.    Mr. Nourredine Lafhel, Director of Risk Management
10.    Mr. Hussam Abuaisheh, Director of Internal Audit
11.    Mr. Abdullah Khatib,  Advisor to the CEO
12.    Dr. Muhammad Al Bashir Muhammad Al Amine, CEO Advisor  

on Shari’ah Matters
13. Mr. Nazih Al-Naser, Senior Advisor to the CEO

Eng. Hani Sonbol Mr. Mohammed 
Ataur Chowdhury

Mr. Mohammad 
Asheque Moyeed

Mr. Omar 
Hashem

Mr. Osman 
Buyukmutlu

Dr. Mohammed 
Alyami

 Dr. Mansur 
Noibi

Mr. Samer 
Babelli

Mr. Nourredine 
Lafhel

Mr. Hussam 
Abuaisheh

Mr. Abdullah 
Khatib

Dr. Muhammad  
Al Bashir Muhammad 

Al Amine

Mr. Nazih Al-Naser
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6.9 Senior and Middle 
Management changes

As part of ICD’s realigned organizational 
structure and new hiring, the following 
changes took place in ICD’s Senior and  
Middle Management in the course of 2023:

1.  Mr. Mohammed Ataur Chowdhury was appointed  
as an Officer in Charge, Equity Department effective 
from 19 January 2023.

2.  Mr. Nazih Al-Naser was appointed as Senior 
Advisor to the CEO effective from 7 February 2023.

3.  Dr. Mansur Noibi was appointed as the Director of 
Legal and Compliance effective from 9 July 2023.

THE PEOPLE AND CULTURE 
DEPARTMENT IS COMMITTED 
TO SUPPORTING THE STAFF 
DEVELOPMENT JOURNEY 
BY PROVIDING TAILORED 
LEARNING AND GROWTH 
OPPORTUNITIES.

OUR GOVERNANCE
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The People and Culture Department embarked on its 
transformation journey with the vision of becoming a strategic 
business partner and enabler of people and business. The 
transformation roadmap spans three years and includes 
four strategic initiatives of Enablement and Placement, HR 
Transformation, ICD Culture and Quick Wins, and an ambitious 
number of projects were delivered throughout the year. 
The department took remarkable strides in 2023 and built 
the foundations that were required to nurture the culture 
of performance and excellence through people. Several 
strategic initiatives were conducted including cultural change, 
strengthening talent acquisition, introducing rewards and 
recognition, promoting performance development, launching 
strategic listening, adopting leadership development framework 
and developing policy/guidelines to support the initiatives. 

In 2024, the People and Culture Department is committed 
to supporting the staff development journey by providing 
tailored learning and growth opportunities to enhance job 
satisfaction and business performance. In the coming year, the 
department will be looking to support the organization using 
right-sizing activities and talent assessment to drive learning 
and development interventions that provide people with the 
support needed to excel in their jobs. Promoting an environment 
of continuous learning will remain at the top of the agenda, 
and digital learning tools will be introduced. Other strategic 
initiatives will also be employed such as coaching and mentoring 
programs, leadership development, succession management 
design, rewards and recognition, and embedding the cultural 
values we aspire to, along with upskilling and reskilling the ICD 
workforce to optimize the human capital and drive business 
performance. In summary, constant, clear and continuous 
communication will remain at the center of the agenda to 
engage people in this journey with us. 

Establishment of the People  
and Culture Department
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7  Our practices
ICD has established institutional 
and governance mechanisms to 
guarantee the strict adherence 
to Shari’ah principles, as 
well as to uphold regularity, 
transparency, integrity, and 
legality across all its activities, 
transactions, and operations. 
As we explain in this section, 
our foremost commitment is to 
maintain the highest standards of 
accountability and transparency, 
fostering public confidence and 
ensuring optimal development 
effectiveness.

7.1 Risk Management

ICD’s risk management function actively 
oversees credit, equity investment, market, 
operational, and recovery risks, ensuring the 
institution’s long-term financial sustainability 
and reputation. It supports the strategic plan, 
fostering a strong risk culture and efficient 
operations, aiming to enhance efficiency, 
strengthen synergies with IsDB Group entities, 
and maintain positive relationships with credit 
rating agencies and stakeholders. 

In a dynamic global landscape, ICD’s risk 
management function strategically aligns 
with industry best practices, contributing to a 
high-performance and resilient organization. 
It leads the development of a comprehensive 
risk management framework, encompassing 
policies, guidelines, processes, and IT systems. 
Specialized teams manage ICD’s portfolios, 
emphasizing business continuity and proactive 
risk measurement, reporting, and mitigation. 
In 2023, the risk management function made 
substantial progress by establishing policies 
and guidelines covering credit risk, operational 
risk, pricing, and liquidity risk. The ongoing 
focus is on implementing a comprehensive 
Risk Management Framework, reflecting a 
commitment to robust practices aligned with 
organizational goals and fostering adaptability  
in a changing business environment. 
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7.2 Compliance

Based on the Anti Money Laundering, Combating 
Financing Terrorism and Know Your Customer 
Policy of the IsDB Group, ICD is strongly 
committed to ensuring that all its activities are 
governed by its strict rules, procedures and 
guidelines. All activities are undertaken based on 
rigorous scrutiny, due diligence, monitoring and 
oversight using automated filtering and screening 
systems which cover all major international 
sanctions programs, embargoes, politically 
exposed persons (PEPs) and legal and regulatory 
enforcement lists etc. This policy was approved 
by the IsDB Board of Executive Directors in 2019 
and the ICD Board adopted the policy in 2020. 
Additionally, ICD takes into consideration the 
latest version of the unbiased and non-political 
recommendations of specialized international 
entities such as the Financial Action Task Force 

(FATF) on Anti-Money Laundering and Combating 
Financing of Terrorists, International Convention 
for Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism and 
the UN Security Council Resolution No. 1373, as 
measures to combat money laundering and the 
financing of terrorism. As a member of the IsDB 
Group, ICD also has an approved Integrity Policy, 
Disclosure of Information & Conflict of Interest 
Policy and Whistleblowing Policy dealing with 
anti-bribery, anti-corruption, anti-fraud and conflict 
of interest.  

All compliance-related matters are entrusted to 
and handled by a dedicated Compliance Unit 
within ICD, which reports functionally to the 
CEO and submits semi-annual reports to Audit, 
the Risk and Compliance Committee of the 
Board and is responsible for: the development 
and implementation of compliance-related 
policies, manuals and procedures; the oversight 
and monitoring of all activities relating to the 
prevention, detection and combating of Money 
Laundering (ML) and Terrorism Financing (TF);  
conducting compliance-related training and 
awareness activities; and the provision of support 
and guidance to ICD senior management, as well 
as to all ICD employees. This ensures that ML 
and TF risks are adequately identified, excluded, 
and mitigated.  

ICD IS STRONGLY 
COMMITTED TO ENSURING 
THAT ALL ITS ACTIVITIES 
ARE GOVERNED BY ITS 
STRICT RULES, PROCEDURES 
AND GUIDELINES.
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7.3 Internal Audit

At ICD, Internal Audit serves as an independent 
function providing assurance and advisory 
services, enriching the Corporation’s pursuits 
in achieving its objectives. Reporting directly to 
the Board through the Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee, the function in 2023 continued its 
role in evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency 
of ICD’s risk management, internal control, and 
governance processes.

Given ICD’s mission of fostering inclusive 
growth in member countries while ensuring 
sustainability, the Internal Audit function has 
continued to evolve beyond its traditional 
oversight role. It has made significant strides 
in transitioning into a trusted advisor, offering 
foresight and insights crucial to accomplishing 
ICD’s objectives.

Throughout 2023, Internal Audit collaborated 
closely with various ICD functions to fortify 
governance mechanisms. This included thorough 
reviews and proposals of enhancements 

to pivotal processes such as the financing 
approval process, alongside examining new and 
revised ICD policies. Its projects also delivered 
valuable insights to management, particularly 
in areas such as treasury operations, credit risk 
management, and equity investments.

After enhancing its key processes and systems 
in 2023, Internal Audit plans to steer most 
of its efforts in 2024 toward appraising ICD’s 
IT landscape, assessing the Corporation’s 
efforts in handling any distressed assets, its 
communication channels as well as its oversight 
model over subsidiaries. Internal Audit will 
also continue undertaking various initiatives to 
enhance its capability to serve ICD in the years 
to come. 

7.4 Legal

The Legal function has steadily carried on 
with its mandate to support and complement 
the mission of ICD through the provision of 
accurate, effective, and efficient and timely legal 
services that protect ICD’s interests. The Legal 
Department has also successfully managed all 
the legal risks emanating from the operations of 
ICD and institutional affairs (internal and external), 
provided support at the organizational and 
business unit levels, and advised on all projects, 
transactions and corporate arrangements of ICD. 

ICD’S MISSION  
IS TO FOSTER  
INCLUSIVE GROWTH  
IN MEMBER COUNTRIES 
WHILE ENSURING 
SUSTAINABILITY.
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Annex 1: Acronyms & Abbreviations

AATB Arab-Africa Trade Bridges Programme

ABBE Al Baraka Bank Egypt

ABEF L’Association des Banques et Etablissements 
Financiers

AIF Africa Investment Forum 

BCI-Guinea Banque pour le Commerce et l’Industrie Guinée

BII British International Investment (BII). 

BKH Bawabat Al Kuwait Holding 

CWP Country Work Program

DEF Development Effectiveness Framework

DE Development Effectiveness 

DFI Development finance institution

EBID ECOWAS Bank for Investment and Development

EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development

EIIC Emirates International Investment Company 

EKH Egypt Kuwait Holding

FATF Financial Action Task Force

FI Financial institution

HIPSO Harmonized Indicators for Private Sector 
Operations

GCC Gulf Co-operation Council

ICD Islamic Corporation for the Development of the 
Private Sector

ICIEC Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of 
Investment & Export Credit

IDFC International Development Finance Club

IsDB Islamic Development Bank

IsDBG Shari’ah 
Board

The Shari’ah Board of all entities of the Islamic 
Development Bank Group

ISFD Islamic Solidarity Fund

ITFC International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation

JII Joint Impact Indicators

LOF Line of Finance

MCPS Member Country Partnership Strategy

MDB Multilateral development bank

MENA Middle East and North Africa

MSME Micro, small- and medium-sized enterprise

MTB Mutual Trust Bank

NBFI Non-Bank financial institution

NSCO North Sinai Concession

OIC Organization of Islamic Cooperation

PAGS Project Assessment Grading System 

PEP Politically exposed person

SDG Sustainable Development Goals

SME Small- and medium-sized enterprise

TCC Technical Coordination Committee

TDB Eastern and Southern African Trade and 
Development Bank 

UGFS United Gulf Financial Services-North Africa 
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Country Gross Approvals (USD million) Gross Disbursements (USD million)
Albania 4.35 4.10
Algeria 27.00               -  
Azerbaijan 135.20 111.86
Bahrain 78.81 18.24
Bangladesh 571.54 399.71
Benin 43.15               -  
Brunei 3.66               -  
Burkina Faso 40.44 67.36
Cameroon 60.04 50.57
Chad 28.15 5.50
Cote d’Ivoire 204.40 83.11
Djibouti 4.00 4.00
Egypt 315.02 269.79
Gabon 25.21               -  
Gambia 6.15 6.15
Guinea 14.64 12.99
Indonesia 98.80 80.77
Iran 101.86 36.31
Iraq 0.00               -  
Jordan 59.78 55.31
Kazakhstan 172.00 38.48
Kuwait 64.13 64.13
Kyrgyzstan 46.90 22.09
Lebanon 0.00               -  
Libya 49.00 10.00
Malaysia 102.66 100.55
Maldives 43.40 51.44
Mali 105.79 66.53
Mauritania 73.99 57.70
Morocco 20.36 20.38
Mozambique 35.00 20.09
Niger 21.44 13.23
Nigeria 333.00 203.21
Pakistan 274.93 131.98
Palestine 7.00 4.00
Qatar 0.00               -  
Saudi Arabia 551.35 360.11
Senegal 197.90 196.59
Sierra Leone 6.00 12.00
Sudan 70.76 52.80
Sultanate of Oman 0.00 -
Suriname 2.00               -  
Syria 68.52 56.30
Tajikistan 43.50 42.42
Togo 22.00  
Tunisia 54.71 51.64
Türkiye 621.51 359.63
Turkmenistan 20.00 20.00
UAE 50.90 50.90
Uganda 105.00               -  
Uzbekistan 632.96 525.18
Yemen 131.49 99.73
Regional/Global 1169.77 675.88
Total 6920.19 4,512.77

Annex 2: Approvals & Disbursements Since Inception

Note: Disbursements to some countries 
may appear higher than approvals due to the 
implementation of regional or global projects.
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Annex 3: Financial Highlights

2023 
(USD million)

2022  
(USD million)

Statement of Income:
Total Income 141.55 112.43
Total Operating Expenses 50.81 42.86
Net Income 9.31 12.87

Balance Sheet:
Liquid Assets  1,765.77  2,045.84 
Net Operating Assets  1,175.76  1,044.70 
Other Assets  44.95  65.31 
Assets held for sale  231.75  1.15 
Total Assets  3,218.23  3,157.00 
Financing & Long-Term Debt  2,064.83  2,002.44 
Equity  1,153.40  1,154.56 

Ratios:
Return on Assets 0.29% 0.41%
Return on Equity 0.81% 1.11%
Debt to Equity 179.02% 173.44%
Equity to Assets 35.84% 36.57%
Liquidity to Total Assets 54.87% 64.80%
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Annex 4: Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent 
Auditor's Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Independent  
Auditor’s Report
 Your Excellencies the
 Chairman and Members
of the General Assembly

Islamic Corporation for the 
Development of Private Sector

Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Islamic 
Corporation for the Development of Private Sector (the “Corporation”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as ‘Group”), which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, 
and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of 
changes in members’ equity, consolidated statement of cash flows  
and consolidated statement of changes in off-balance sheet assets  
under management for the year then ended, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2023, and the results of its operations, its cash 
flows and its changes in members’ equity for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the 
Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions 
(“AAOIFI”).

In our opinion, the Group has also complied with the Shari’ah Rules 
and Principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of the Islamic 
Development Bank Group (“IsDBG”) during the period under audit.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards for 
Islamic Financial Institutions issued by AAOIFI and International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements’ section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the AAOIFI’s Code 
of Ethics for Accountants and Auditors of Islamic Financial Institutions 
(AAOIFI Code), International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as prevailing in the local jurisdiction, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the AAOIFI and IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide  
a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, 
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do  
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, 
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in  
that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for 
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Deloitte and Touche & Co
Chartered Accountants 

 

Waleed Bin Moha’d Sobahi
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 378
26 March 2024
16 Ramadan 1445 AH

Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Expected credit loss allowance against project assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s project assets amounted to USD 
927.6 million (2022: USD 816.6 million) representing 29% of total assets. 
The expected credit loss (ECL) allowance as at 31 December 2023 was 
USD 96.8 million (2022: USD 118.4 million).

The audit of impairment allowances for project assets is a key area of 
focus because of its size and due to the significance of the estimates 
and judgments used in classifying project assets into various stages, 
determining related allowance requirements, and the complexity of the 
judgements, assumptions and estimates used in the Expected Credit  
Loss models. 

The Group recognizes allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) at an 
amount equal to 12-month ECL (Stage 1) or full lifetime ECL (Stage 2). A 
loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if 
the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition.

s are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. 
These are measured as the present value of the difference between 
the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple 
future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s effective profit rate. 
The Group employs statistical models for ECL calculations and the key 
variables used in these calculations are probability of default (PD), loss 
given default (LGD), and exposure at default (EAD), which are defined in 
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The portion of the project assets is assessed for the significant increase 
in credit risk (SICR) and measurement of ECL. This requires management 
to capture all qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 
forward-looking information while assessing SICR, or while assessing 
credit-impaired criteria for the exposure. Management judgement may 
also be involved in manual staging override in accordance with the  
Group’s policies.

1.  We obtained an understanding of the project assets business process, 
the credit risk management process, the policy for impairment and 
credit losses and the estimation process of determining impairment 
allowances for project assets to counterparties and the ECL modelling 
methodology. 

2.  We assessed and evaluated the design and implementation of 
automated and / or manual controls over:
•  approval, accuracy and completeness of impairment allowances 

and governance controls over the monitoring of the model, through 
key management and committee meetings that form part of the 
approval process for project asset impairment allowances; 

• model outputs; and
• the recognition and measurement of impairment allowances

3.  On a sample basis, we selected project assets and assessed and 
evaluated:
•  the Corporation’s identification of SICR (Stage 2), the assessment 

of credit-impaired classification (Stage 3) and whether relevant 
impairment events had been identified in a timely manner and 
classification of project assets into various stages and the 
determination of defaults/individually impaired exposures.

•  The forward-looking information incorporated into the impairment 
calculations by involving our specialists to challenge the multiple 
economic scenarios chosen and related weighting applied.

•  the assumptions underlying the impairment allowance  
calculation, such as estimated future cash flows and estimates  
of recovery period.

•  the calculation methodology to determine if it complied with the 
requirements of AAOIFI FAS 30

•  the post model adjustments and management overlays (if any) in 
order to assess these adjustments and assessed the qualitative 
factors which were considered by the Corporation to recognize 
any post model adjustments, in case of data or model limitations. 
Where such post model adjustments were applied, we assessed 
those post model adjustments and the governance process  
around them. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The measurement of ECL amounts for project assets are carried out by 
the ECL models with limited manual intervention, however, it is important 
that models (PD, LGD, EAD and macroeconomic adjustments) are valid 
throughout the reporting period and are subject to a periodic review 
process by an independent third party expert. 

This was considered as a key audit matter due to the materiality of the 
project assets and the complexity of the judgements, assumptions and 
estimates used in the ECL models.

Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated financial statements for the 
accounting policy for the impairment of financial assets, Note 26 for the 
disclosure of impairment and Note 31 for credit risk disclosure and the key 
assumptions and factors considered in determination of ECL.

4.  We tested models and the IT applications used in the credit 
impairment process and verified the integrity of data used as  
input to the impairment models.

5.  The Group performed an external validation of the ECL model and LGD 
models including macro-economic model during the reporting period. 
We considered the process of this external validation of the models 
and its impact on the results of the impairment estimate. Finally, we 
updated our assessment of the methodology and framework designed 
and implemented by the Group as to whether the impairment models 
outcomes and stage allocations appear reasonable and reflective 
of the forecasts used by the Group to determine future economic 
conditions at the reporting date.

6.  Where relevant, we involved our specialists to assist us in reviewing 
model calculations, evaluating related inputs and assessing 
reasonableness of assumptions used in ECL model particularly 
around probability of default, loss given default, exposure at default. 
macroeconomic variables, forecasted macroeconomic scenarios 
and probability weights and of assumptions used in post model 
adjustments (if any) as mentioned above.

7.  We assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements relating to this matter against the requirements of the 
Financial Accounting Standards issued by AAOIFI.
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Other Information included in the Group’s 
Annual Report 
Other information consists of the information included 
in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report, other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s  
report thereon. Management is responsible for the  
other information. The Group’s 2023 Annual Report is 
expected to be made available to us after the date of  
this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
These consolidated financial statements and the Group’s 
undertaking to operate in accordance with Shari’ah 
Rules and Principles are the responsibility of the Group’s 
management and those charged with governance. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards issued 
by AAOIFI and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Auditing Standards 
for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by AAOIFI and 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Auditing Standards 
for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by AAOIFI and 
ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of managements’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,  
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a  
going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner  
that achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be  
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits  
of such communication.

Deloitte and Touche & Co
Chartered Accountants 

 

Waleed Bin Moha’d Sobahi
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 378
26 March 2024
16 Ramadan 1445 AH

Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

75Empowering Prosperity: Bridging Finance for Inclusive Growth and a Sustainable Future

ANNEXES



Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note
31 December 2023 

USD
31 December 2022 

USD
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5 211,626,831 340,089,159  
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 6 32,003,709 52,328,824 
Investments in Sukuk, shares and other securities 7 1,522,141,542   1,653,425,384 
Murabaha financing 8 377,580,442 84,881,396  
Installment sales financing 9 308,042,001 503,216,407
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 10 230,226,148 214,902,872  
Istisna’a assets 11 11,837,554 13,559,552
Equity investments 13 168,611,127 150,465,318  
Investment in real estate properties 14 79,462,403 77,679,145   
Other assets 15 44,954,308 65,306,049

2,986,486,065 3,155,854,106

Assets held for sale 36 231,745,208 1,150,000

Total Assets 3,218,231,273 3,157,004,106

LIABILITIES
Sukuk issued 16 806,456,783 701,165,442
Commodity Murabaha financing liabilities 17 988,996,298 1,060,692,762
Accrued and other liabilities 18 32,348,420 228,203,466   
Employee benefit liabilities 19 15,688,696 11,191,013
Amounts due to ICD Solidarity Fund 20 1,188,327 1,188,550

1,844,678,524 2,002,441,233

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 36 220,154,623 -

Total Liabilities 2,064,833,147 2,002,441,233 

Members’ equity
Paid-up capital 21 1,587,552,837 1,586,736,446
Accumulated losses 22 (456,122,577) (463,969,550)
Fair value reserve (12,838,045)  (25,588,785)
Actuarial (losses)/gain (398,825) 3,309,288
Cashflow hedge reserve (3,868,846) -
Other reserve 3,632,433 4,839,279 
Foreign currency translation reserve (11,854,928) (13,038,845)

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent 1,106,102,04 1,092,287,833

Non-controlling interest 47,296,077 62,275,040

Total Members’ Equity 1,153,398,126 1,154,562,873
Total Liabilities and Members’ Equity 3,218,231,273 3,157,004,106
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Consolidated Income Statement 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note
31 December 2023 

USD

31 December 2022 
USD 

Restated
Continuing operations

Net Income
Income from commodity placement 11,313,754 5,915,866
Income from sukuk investments 7.1 39,451,960 36,900,344
Income from financing assets 12 62,531,236 38,302,478
Equity investment income, net 13.2 19,299,213 14,862,476
Other income 23 8,954,101 16,453,039

Total income from continuing operations 141,550,264 112,434,203

Financing cost (74,530,313) (42,989,788)
Net income from continuing operations 67,019,951 69,444,415

Operating expenses
Staff costs (39,208,720)  (36,455,244)
Other administrative expenses (10,931,503)  (6,636,45)
Depreciation (670,271)  (8,064)
Amortization (1,840)  241,516 
Total operating expenses (50,812,334) (42,858,243)

Net operating income before impairment charges from continuing operations 16,207,617 26,586,172
Impairment loss 26 (11,544,266) (6,327,004)
Net profit for the year from continuing operations 4,663,351 20,259,168

Non- Shari’ah compliant income 20 223 19,262
Transferred to ICD Solidarity Fund 20 (223) (19,262)
Net profit for the year before taxation from continuing operations 4,663,351    20,259,168

Income tax (899,798) (160,443)

Net profit for the year after taxation from continuing operations 3,763,553 20,098,725

Discontinued operations

Net profit / (loss) for the year after taxation from discontinued operations 36 5,550,272 (7,229,510)

Net profit for the year 9,313,825 12,869,215

Attributable to:

Equity-holders of the parent 7,846,973 13,600,362
Non-controlling interest 1,466,852 (731,147)

9,313,825 12,869,215
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Note
31 December 2023 

USD
31 December 2022 

USD
Operating Activities
Profit before tax for the year 10,213,623 13,704,570
Adjustments for:
 Income attributable to non-controlling interest (1,466,851) 731,147   
 Depreciation and amortization 24,432,644 24,949,578   
 Impairment charge/(reversal) for financial assets 26 11,551,716 17,074,993  
 Financing costs 74,530,313 43,002,141  
 Provision for employee pension liabilities 19 4,952,914 4,750,997  
 Share of income from investments in associates (17,991,414)  (13,395,384)
 Gain on acquisition of equity investment -  (520,687
 Loss on Islamic derivatives net of currency losses (4,304,694) (1,069,512) 

101,918,251 89,227,843
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 10,778,980  152,901,183 
Investment in Sukuk, shares and other securities 133,021,586  (79,819,954)
Murabaha financing (281,623,926) 31,348,299
Installment sales financing 185,841,255 (192,101,385)
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek (38,360,354)   (7,729,229)
Istisna’a assets 1,785,368  3,820,005  
Equity investments  971,304 133,232,913   
Other assets  24,261,553 (25,339,512)
Accrued and other liabilities  (190,054,690) 181,082,150  
Amounts due to ICD Solidarity Fund (223) (31,572) 

Cash from operations (51,460,896) 286,590,741
 Financing cost paid (68,045,679)  (35,418,179)
 Employee benefits liabilities paid (4,163,344)  (3,965,731)
 Tax paid (79,602) (835,355)

Net cash used in operating activities (123,749,521) 246,371,476

Investing Activity
Investment in real estate (1,783,258) (77,679,145) 
Held for sale (10,440,585) (1,150,000)

Net cash used in investing activities (12,223,843) (78,829,145) 

Financing Activities
Proceeds from Sukuk issued 104,489,691 -
Proceeds from Commodity Murabaha financing 657,200,000 587,439,787  
Repayments of Commodity Murabaha financing (741,200,000) (626,631,316)
Share capital contribution 816,391 3,813,019  
Non-controlling interest (14,978,963) 62,275,040

Net cash used in financing activities 6,327,119 26,896,530   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalent (129,646,245) 194,438,861  
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 340,089,159  158,689,143 
Foreign currency translation reserve 1,183,917  (13,038,845)

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 5 211,626,831 340,089,159  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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January 1, 2022 Additions Net disposals/ 
withdrawals

Mudarib's Share December 31, 2022

Net assets managed on behalf  
of a financial institution

43,900,000 389,800,000 (433,700,000) - -

Total 43,900,000 389,800,000 (433,700,000) - -

January 1, 2023 Additions Net disposals/ 
withdrawals

Mudarib's Share December 31, 2023

Net assets managed on behalf  
of a financial institution

- 246,200,000 (246,200,000) - -

Total - 246,200,000 (246,200,000) - -

The Group has Wakala based arrangement with a financial institution in which it provides investment management services 
to the financial institution and acts as its agent. The Group is not exposed to any variable returns on the investment of these 
funds and accordingly does not control these funds. Therefore, the Group does not recognize these funds on its Consolidated 
statement of financial position. No amounts were outstanding in respect of this arrangement at the end of 2023. During the 
year, the Group earned USD 96,000 (2022: USD 289,000) as agent’s remuneration. The remuneration is agreed upon through 
the Framework Agreement between the Group and the financial Institution.

Separate Statement of changes in off-balance-sheet  
assets under Management 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. Organisation and operations

Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private Sector (the “Corporation”, “the Parent”) is an international 
specialized institution established pursuant to the Articles of Agreement (“the Agreement”) signed and ratified by its 
members’. The Parent Company commenced its operations following the inaugural meeting of the General Assembly 
held on 6 Rabi Thani, 1421H, corresponding to July 8, 2000.

According to the Agreement, the objective of the Parent Company is to promote, in accordance with the principles 
of Shari’ah, the economic development of its member countries by encouraging the establishment, expansion, and 
modernization of private enterprises producing goods and services in such a way as to supplement the activities of 
Islamic Development Bank (“IsDB”).

The Parent Company, as a multilateral financial institution, is not subject to any external regulatory authority. It operates 
in accordance with the Agreement and the approved internal rules and regulations.

The Parent Company carries out its business activities through its headquarters in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. 

The principal activities of the Parent and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are a wide range of financial 
services, including retail, commercial, investment banking, private banking, and real estate development.

2. Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards 
issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and the Shari’ah rules 
and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Board of the IsDB Group. For matters, which are not covered by AAOIFI 
standards, the Corporation seeks guidance from the relevant International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
issued or adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the relevant interpretation issued by 
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of IASB provided they do not contradict the rules and 
principles of Shari’ah as determined by the Shari’ah Board of IsDB Group. 

During the year ended 20 Dhul Hijjah, 1434H (Corresponding to 3 November 2013), the Corporation used the 
available guidance for the “Investment Entities” amendments to IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated financial statements’ and 
resultant changes in IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of interest in other entities’ and IAS 27 ‘Separate financial statements’ 
(the “Amendments”) which were effective from the period beginning 1 January 2015. Accordingly, the Corporation 
discontinued issuing consolidated financial statements and used the transition guidance of the amendments to IFRS 
10 and IFRS 12, in so far it related to the adoption of amendments related to investment entities.

In 2022, the Board of Directors, based on management’s reassessment of the business model of the Corporation in 
the light of the investment entity definition under IFRS 10, resolved to revoke the Investment Entity status effective 
from January 1, 2022 and, as a result, the Corporation discontinued using the amendments to IFRS 10 and IFRS 12. 

Pursuant to the above decision, the Corporation is required to comply with requirements of FAS 23 -“Consolidation’’, 
under which the Corporation is required to prepare consolidated financial statements from January 1, 2022 (the 
effective date of the decision). Since the Corporation ceased to be an investment entity, the change in status has been 
accounted for as a ‘deemed acquisition’ of the Corporation’s subsidiaries and associates, as follows: 

•  the Corporation applied business combination requirements to all its subsidiary (and associates) that were 
previously measured at fair value through profit or loss;
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•  the date of the change of status (i.e. the date the Corporation ceased to be an investment entity) was considered as 
the deemed acquisition date for such subsidiaries and associates; and for the measurement of any goodwill or gain 
from bargain purchase;

•  all the subsidiaries of the Corporation have been consolidated in accordance with the general requirements of FAS 
23 from the date of change of status in these consolidated financial statements. Likewise, all associates have been 
equity accounted in accordance with the general requirements of FAS 24 from the date of change of status in these 
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Corporation (“Parent 
Company”) and the following subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) in which the Parent Company exercises control 
and therefore have been consolidated in these consolidated financial statements on a line by line basis combining 
similar items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the Corporation and its subsidiaries:

Name of entity Country of incorporation Nature of business Effective ownership %

2023 2022
Azerbaijan Leasing Company Limited Azerbaijan Leasing 100 100
ICD Asset Management Limited Malaysia Asset management 100 100
Islamic Banking Growth Fund Malaysia Private equity fund 100 100
Taiba Leasing Uzbekistan Leasing 100 100
Tamweel Africa Holding Senegal Banking 100 100
Ijara Management Company Saudi Arabia Leasing 100 100

Tahfeez United Company Limited (formerly 
Capitas Group)

Saudi Arabia Advisory 100 100

Taiba Titrisation SA Senegal Sukuk advisory 100 100
ASR Leasing LLC Tajikistan  Leasing 67 67
Al Majmoua Al Mauritania Mauritania Real estate 53 53
Ewaan Al Fareeda Residential Co. Saudi Arabia Real estate 50 50
Taha Alam Sdn Bhd Malaysia Hajj & Umra Services 50 50

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, income, expenses, profits, and losses are eliminated 
in full on consolidation. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date control is transferred to the Corporation which is 
January 1, 2022 due to revocation of the Investment Entity status and continue to be consolidated until the date that control 
ceases or the subsidiary is classified as held for sale, in which case the assets and liabilities respectively are removed line by 
line and presented as assets and liabilities held for sale as a single line item on the statement of financial position. Control 
is achieved when it has substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the business, duly meeting both of the 
following conditions: a) it is directly exposed to, and has rights to, variable returns (negative and positive, respectively) from its 
involvement with such business; and b) it has the ability to affect those returns through its power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities.

Non-controlling interest in a subsidiary’s net assets is reported as a separate item in the Group’s members’ equity. In the 
consolidated income statement, non-controlling interest is included in net income, and shown separately from that of the 
shareholders.
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Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the 
non-controlling interests’ share of changes in members’ equity since the date of combination. Losses applicable to the 
non-controlling interest in excess of the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests 
of the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling interest has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional 
investment to cover the losses.

Transactions with non-controlling interests are managed in the same way as transactions with external parties. Sale of 
participations to non-controlling interests result in a gain or loss that is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transaction. 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process 
of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following items in the 
consolidated statement of financial position:

• Other investments measured at fair value through equity; 

• Profit rate and cross-currency swaps measured at fair value;

• Investments in Sukuk which are measured at fair value through equity and;

• Post-employment benefit plan is measured using actuarial present value calculation based on projected unit credit method.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”) which is also the functional currency of 
the Group. 

The following is a summary of the Group’s significant accounting policies:

Transactions and balances 
Monetary and non-monetary transactions denominated or requiring settlement in a foreign currency are translated into United 
States Dollars (“USD”) at the spot exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the exchange rate ruling on the reporting date. Foreign currency differences resulting from 
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement as foreign exchange gains/losses.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value (including Equity 
investments) are retranslated into the unit of account at the spot exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 
Foreign currency differences resulting from translation of such investments are recognized in the fair value reserve account 
under members’ equity.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the consolidated income statement. Translation differences on non-monetary items carried at their fair value, such as certain 
investments carried at fair value through equity are included in investments fair value reserve. 
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The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

•  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
statement of financial position;

•  Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income  
and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

•  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of 
financing and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. 
Translation losses arising in the case of severe devaluation or depreciation (other than temporary) of the currency of the net 
investment in a foreign operation when the latter is translated at the spot exchange rate at the date of consolidated statement 
of financial position, are recognised in the first place as a charge against any credit balance on the separate component of the 
shareholders’ equity and any remaining amount is recognised as a loss in the consolidated income statement. When a foreign 
operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill, and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and  
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements having an original maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 
Commodity Murabaha placements are made through financial institutions and are utilized in the purchase and sale of 
commodities at a fixed profit. The buying and selling of commodities is limited by the terms of agreement between the 
Corporation and other financial institutions. Commodity placements are initially recorded at cost including acquisition charges 
associated with the placements and subsequently measured at amortized cost less impairment. 

Wakala placement is an agreement whereby one party (the “Muwakkil” / “Principal”) appoints an investment agent (the 
“Wakeel” / “Agent”) to invest the Muwakkil’s funds (the “Wakala Capital”) on the basis of an agency contract (the “Wakala”) in  
return for a specified fee. The agency fee can be a lump sum or an expected fixed percentage of the Wakala Capital. The agent 
decides in respect to the investments to be made from the Wakala Capital, subject to the terms of the Wakala agreement. 
However, the Wakeel bears the loss in cases of misconduct, negligence or violation of any of the terms of the Wakala 
agreements.

Murabaha 
Murabaha financings are agreements whereby the Corporation sells to a customer, on a cost plus profit basis, a commodity  
or an asset, which the Corporation has purchased and acquired based on a promise received from the customer to buy. 
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Installment sales financing
Installment sale financing is a sale agreement where repayments are made on an installment basis over a pre-agreed period. 
The selling price comprises the cost plus an agreed profit margin without requirement of disclosing the actual cost. 

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 
These consist of assets purchased by the Corporation either individually or as part of syndication with other entities and 
leased to beneficiaries for their use in Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek agreements whereby the ownership of the leased assets 
is transferred to the beneficiaries at the end of the lease term after the completion of all payments under the agreement. The 
transfer of asset’s ownership may take place through transfer of control (entailing risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
such assets) under a separate form of contract as follows:

- Contract of Sale: after the end of the Ijarah term; or
- Contract of gift” after the end of the contract term; or
- Contract of sale of proportionate ownership during the Ijarah term.

Istisna’a assets 
Istisna’a is an agreement between the Corporation and a customer whereby the Corporation sells to the customer an asset 
which is either manufactured or acquired by the purchaser on behalf of the Corporation according to agreed-upon specifications, 
for an agreed-upon price. After completion of the project, the Istisna’a asset is transferred to the Istisna’a receivable account.

Investments
The Corporation’s investments are categorised as follows: 

i) Subsidiaries 
An entity is classified as a subsidiary if the Corporation can exercise control over the entity. Control is power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity with the objective of earning benefits from its operation, exposure. Control is 
presumed to exist if the Corporation holds, directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, 50 per cent or more of the voting rights 
in the entity, unless it can be clearly demonstrated otherwise. Conversely, control may also exist through agreement with the 
entity’s other members or the entity itself regardless of the level of shareholding that the Corporation has in the entity. 

ii) Associates 
An entity is classified as an associate of the Corporation if the Corporation can exercise significant influence on the entity. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist if the Corporation holds, directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, 20 per cent or 
more of the voting rights in the entity, unless it can be clearly demonstrated otherwise. Conversely, significant influence may 
also exist through agreement with the entity’s other members or the entity itself regardless of the level of shareholding that 
the Corporation has in the entity. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are 
initially recognised at cost (including transaction costs directly related to acquisition of investment in associate). The Group’s 
investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

iii) Other equity investments 
Entities where the Corporation does not have significant influence or control are categorised as other equity investments. 
Equity investments are intended for long-term holding and may be sold in response to liquidity needs, changes in market prices 
or within the overall context of the Corporation’s developmental activities. Accordingly, the Corporation has opted to designate 
all of its equity investments at fair value through equity.
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Listed investments measured at fair value through members’ equity
Initially and subsequently such investments are measured at fair market value, and any unrealized gains or losses arising from 
the change in their fair values are recognized directly in the fair value reserve under members’ equity until the investment is 
derecognized or considered impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded under the members’ equity 
is recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Unlisted investments in equities and funds measured at fair value through members’ equity 
Unlisted investments in equities carried at fair values determined by independent valuers. Fair value gains/losses are reported in 
fair value reserve in equity. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of impairment 
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of investment and its expected recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses recognized in consolidated income statement are reversed through statement of changes in members’ equity. After the 
initial designation, the Corporation shall not reclassify investments in equity-type securities into or out of the fair value through 
its statement of changes in members’ equity category.

All other investments (excluding investments carried at fair value through consolidated income statement) are assessed for 
impairment in accordance with the impairment approach. 

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by 
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value at the 
acquisition date, except that:

•  deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and 
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

•  liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquire are measured in 
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments at the acquisition date (see below); and

•  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes contingent consideration arrangement, 
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred 
in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period 
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments 
are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one 
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Other 
contingent consideration is re-measured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with changes in fair value recognized in 
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are re-
measured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising 
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts 
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognized as of that date.

iv) Sukuk investments
Sukuk are certificates of equal value representing undivided share in ownership of tangible assets, usufructs, services or  
(in the ownership) of assets of a particular project, measured at amortised costs or fair value through equity.

Sukuk Investments carried at fair value through changes in members’ equity
An investment will be measured at fair value through changes in members’equity if both the following conditions are met:

•  the investment is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting the expected cashflows  
and selling the investments; and

•  the investment represents a non monetary debt type instrument or other investment instrument having reasonably 
determinable effective yield.

Sukuk Investments carried at amortised cost
An investment shall be measured at amortised cost if both the following conditions are met:

•  the investment is held within a business model whose objective is to hold such investments in order to collect expected 
cashflows till maturity of the instrument; and

•  the investment represents either a debt type instrument or other investment instrument having reasonably determinable 
effective yield.

These investments are measured using effective profit method at initial recognition minus capital/redemption payments and 
minus any reduction for impairment.

Any other investment instruments not classified as per amortised cost or fair value through equity, are classified as fair value 
through consolidated income statement.

On initial recognition, the Corporation makes an irrevocable election to designate certain equity instruments that are not 
designated at fair value through consolidated income statement to be classified as investments at fair value through equity.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Corporation manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That 
is, whether the Corporation’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the 
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contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets 
are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVIS. 
Factors considered by the Corporation in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how 
the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key management 
personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

Impairment of investments held at fair value through changes in members’ equity
The Corporation exercises judgment to consider impairment on the financial assets including equity investments held at fair 
value through members’ equity, at each reporting date. This includes determination of a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value of equity investments below cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. 
In making this judgment, the Corporation evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share prices. In addition, 
the Corporation considers impairment to be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the 
investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

The Corporation considers 30% or more, as a reasonable measure for significant decline below its cost, irrespective of the 
duration of the decline. Prolonged decline represents decline below cost that persists for 1 year or longer irrespective of the 
amount.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill other intangibles assets acquired through business combinations have been allocated to the cash-generating units  
of the acquired entities for impairment testing purposes. The Group tests whether goodwill or intangible assets have suffered 
any impairment in accordance with the impairment accounting policy.

Impairment of financial assets other than equity instrument
The Corporation applies the credit loss approach to financial instruments measured at amortized cost. To assess the extent  
of credit risk, the financial assets are divided into three (3) categories:

i. Stage 1 – No significant increase in credit risk;
ii. Stage 2 – Significant increase in credit risk (SICR); and
iii. Stage 3 – Credit impaired financial assets.

Allocation to different stages is based on the degree of deterioration in the credit quality of the financial asset. At each reporting 
date, the Corporation assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Corporation monitors all 
financial assets, and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to the impairment requirements to assess whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the 
Corporation will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Corporation 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based on the remaining maturity of 
the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated for the remaining maturity at the reporting date when 
the financial instrument was first recognized. In making this assessment, the Corporation considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information  
that is available without undue cost or effort, based on the Corporation’s historical experience and expert credit assessment.

Multiple economic scenarios form the basis of determining the probability of default at initial recognition and at subsequent 
reporting dates. Different economic scenarios will lead to a different probability of default. It is the weighting of these different 
scenarios that forms the basis of a weighted average probability of default that is used to determine whether credit risk has 
significantly increased.
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Forward-looking information includes the future prospects of the countries and industries in which the Corporation’s 
counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-
tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various internal and external sources of actual and forecast 
economic information. The Corporation allocates its counterparties to a relevant internal credit risk grade depending on  
their credit quality. The quantitative information is a primary indicator of significant increase in credit risk and is based on  
the change in lifetime PD by comparing. Given that macro-economic scenario data and models for certain countries are  
not readily available, in such cases proxy scenarios and models have been used.

The PDs used are forward-looking and the Corporation uses the same methodologies and data used to measure the loss 
allowance for ECL.

The qualitative factors that indicate significant increase in credit risk are reflected in PD models on a timely basis. However,  
the Corporation still considers separately some qualitative factors to assess if credit risk has increased significantly.

Given that a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is a relative measure, a given change, in absolute terms,  
in the PD will be more significant for a financial instrument with a lower initial PD than compared to a financial instrument with 
a higher PD.

All financial assets are allocated to stage 1 on initial recognition. However, if a significant increase in credit risk is identified 
at the reporting date compared with initial recognition, then the asset is transferred to stage 2 (Refer to Note 32 Risk 
management). If there is objective evidence of impairment, then the asset is credit-impaired and allocated to stage 3 as 
described in Note 32 Risk management.

With the exception of Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets (which are considered separately below), 
ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:  

-   12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are possible within  
12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or

-   ull lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial instrument,  
(referred to as Stage 2).

-   As for instruments classified in stage 3, loss allowance is quantified as the difference between the carrying amount of the 
instrument and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the instrument’s original effective profit 
rate (EPR) where applicable. 

Credit‑impaired financial assets        
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. Evidence of  
credit impairment includes observable data about the following events

• Company files for bankruptcy

• Cancellation of Operating License

• Clear evidence that the company will not be able to make the future repayments

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined effect of several events may have caused 
financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Corporation assesses whether debt instruments that are financial assets 
measured at amortized cost are credit-impaired at each reporting date.
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Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets
POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For these assets, the 
Corporation recognizes all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance with any changes recognized in 
profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets creates an impairment gain.

Modification and derecognition of financial assets
A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset are 
renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A modification affects the 
amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date.

A financing forbearance is granted in cases where although the financed party made all reasonable efforts to pay under the 
original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has already happened and the financed party is expected to 
be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in most of the cases include an extension of the maturity of the financial 
asset, changes to the timing of the cash flows of the financial asset (principal and profit repayment), reduction in the amount of 
cash flows due (principal and profit forgiveness).

When a financial asset is modified the Corporation assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. In accordance 
with the Corporation’s policy a modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To 
determine if the modified terms are substantially different from the original contractual terms the Corporation considers the 
following:

A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining contractual cash flows under the 
original terms with the contractual cash flows under the revised terms, both amounts discounted at the original effective profit 
rate. If the difference in present value is greater than 10% the Corporation deems the arrangement is substantially different 
leading to derecognition. When performing a quantitative assessment of a modification or renegotiation of a credit-impaired 
financial asset or a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset that was subject to a write-off, the Corporation 
considers the expected (rather than the contractual) cash flows before modification or renegotiation and compares those with 
the contractual cash flows after modification or renegotiation.

In the case where the financial asset is derecognized the loss allowance for ECL is remeasured at the date of derecognition 
to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference between this revised carrying amount and the 
fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on derecognition. The new financial asset 
will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except in the rare occasions where the new financial asset is 
considered to be originated- credit impaired. This applies only in the case where the fair value of the new financial asset is 
recognized at a significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains a high risk of default which has not been 
reduced by the modification. The Corporation monitors credit risk of modified financial assets by evaluating qualitative and 
quantitative information, such as if the client is in past due status under the new terms.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the 
Corporation determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by comparing:

-  the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual terms; with
-  the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms.

For financial assets modified as part of the Corporation’s forbearance policy, where modification did not result in derecognition, 
the estimate of PD reflects the Corporation’s ability to collect the modified cash flows taking into account the Corporation’s 
previous experience of similar forbearance action, as well as various behavioural indicators, including the financed party’s 
payment performance against the modified contractual terms. If the credit risk remains significantly higher than what was 
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expected at initial recognition the loss allowance will continue to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. If a forborne 
financing is credit impaired due to the existence of evidence of credit impairment (see above), the Corporation performs an 
ongoing assessment to ascertain if the problems of the exposure are cured, to determine if the financing is no longer credit-
impaired. The loss allowance on forborne financing will generally only be measured based on 12-month ECL when there is 
evidence of the financed party’s improved repayment behaviour following modification leading to a reversal of the previous 
significant increase in credit risk.

Where a modification does not lead to derecognition the Corporation calculates the modification loss by comparing the gross 
carrying amount before and after the modification (excluding the ECL allowance). Modification losses, if any, for financial 
assets are included in the consolidated income statement in ‘Losses on modification of financial assets’. Then the Corporation 
measures ECL for the modified asset, where the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in 
calculating the expected cash shortfalls from the original asset.

The Corporation derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire (including 
expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. If the Corporation neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Corporation recognizes 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 

Corporation retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Corporation 
continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized funding for the proceeds received.

Definition of default          
Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring the amount of  
ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component  
of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the identification of a significant increase  
in credit risk.

The Corporation considers the following as constituting an event of default:
-   All contracts or obligors rated 21 in the Corporation’s internal scale (equivalent to C in Moody’s scale and D in both S&P’s and 

Fitch Ratings’ scale); or

-   Moreover, the Corporation also uses a rebuttable presumption based on days past due (DPD). This rule is applied if the 
contractual payments are due for more than 180 days for sovereign contracts and 90 days for non-sovereign ones, unless 
there is reasonable and supportable information indicating that the contract is not credit-impaired.

This definition of default is used by the Corporation for accounting purposes as well as for internal credit risk management 
purposes. The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect different characteristics of different types of assets.

The Corporation uses a variety of sources of information to assess default which are either developed internally or obtained 
from external sources. As noted in the definition of credit impaired financial assets above, default is evidence that an asset is 
credit impaired. Therefore credit impaired assets will include defaulted assets, but will also include other non-defaulted given 
the definition of credit impaired is broader than the definition of default.
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Write-off  
When the exposure is deemed uncollectible, it is written-off against the related impairment provision and any excess loss is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement. Such assets are written-off only after all necessary procedures have been 
completed and the amount of loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are credited 
to the Corporation’s consolidated income statement. Corporation has not written off any financial assets during the current year.

Financial liabilities
The Corporation derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognized in consolidated income statement.

The Corporation also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under the modified 
terms are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. It 
is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, 
including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least ten per cent different 
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in the 
consolidated income statement.

Other amortised cost assets
An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that an amortised cost asset 
or a group of such assets may be impaired. The amount of the impairment losses for other assets is calculated as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and its estimated recoverable amount. Adjustments to the provision are recorded as a 
charge or credit in the Corporation’s consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities
All Sukuk issued, Commodity Murabaha financing and other liabilities issued are initially recognized at cost, net of transaction 
charges, being the fair value of the consideration received. Subsequently, all yield bearing financial liabilities, are measured at 
amortised cost by taking into account any discount or premium. Premiums are amortised, and discounts are accreted on an 
effective yield basis to maturity and taken to “financing cost” in the consolidated income statement.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legal enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the 
Corporation intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and 
expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) issued by AAOIFI, or 
for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

Islamic derivative financial instruments 
Islamic derivatives financial instruments represent Islamic foreign currency forward contracts , Islamic profit rate swaps and 
Islamic cross currency profit rate swaps. They are based on International Islamic Financial Market (IIFM) and International 
Swaps Derivatives Association, Inc. (ISDA) templates. These are used by the Corporation for hedging strategy only to mitigate 
the risk of fluctuation in foreign currency and financing cost for placements with financial institutions, financing assets and 
Sukuk issued. Islamic derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured at their fair value at the end of each reporting date. The resulting gains or losses on re-measurement 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Islamic derivatives with positive fair values or negative fair values are 
reported under the ‘other assets’ or ‘accrued and other liabilities’, respectively, in the statement of financial position.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

92 ICD Annual Report 2023



Hedge (Tahawwut) accounting
The Group designates profit-rate in respect of foreign currency risk and profit rate risk, as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship (Tahawwut), the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument/
wa’ad and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 
transactions (Tahawwut). Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument/
wa’ad is highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedges 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of swaps or wa’ad that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognized in statement of changes in members’ equity and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedge reserves.  
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement.

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses arising on changes in fair value 
of hedging instruments or wa’ad entered into for cash flow hedges. The cumulative gain or loss arising on changes in fair value 
of the hedging instruments or wa’ad that are recognized and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedge reserves are 
reclassified to income statement only when the hedged transaction affects the income statement.

Amounts previously recognized in the statement of changes in members’ equity are reclassified to income statement in the 
periods when the hedged item affects the income statement, in the same line as the recognized hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship (Tahawwut), when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.

Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Corporation, and accordingly, are not included in 
the consolidated financial statements.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The cost less 
estimated residual value of property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of the assets as follows:

• Furniture and fixtures  10% to 25%
• Computers   10% to 33%
• Motor vehicles     15% to 25%
• Other equipment    10% to 20%

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated 
recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value less costs to 
sell and their value in use.

Real estate investments 
Investment in real estate is initially recognised at cost and subsequently re-measured at fair value in accordance with the fair 
value model with the resulting unrealised gains being recognised in the consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity 
under fair value reserves. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Any unrealised losses resulting from re-measurement at fair value of investment in real estate carried at fair value are adjusted 
in equity against the investment in real estate fair value reserve, to the extent of the available credit balance of this reserve. 
In case such losses exceed the available balance, the unrealised losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
In case there are unrealised losses relating to investment in real estate that have been recognised in the consolidated income 
statement in a previous financial period, the unrealised gains relating to the current financial period are recognised to the extent 
of crediting back such previous losses in the consolidated income statement. 

The realised profits or losses resulting from the sale of any investment in real estate are measured as the difference between 
the book value (or carrying amount) and the net cash or cash equivalent proceeds from the sale for each investment separately. 
The resulting profit or loss together with the available balance on the investment in real estate fair value reserve account is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the current financial period. 

All properties where the decision is made to sell, and the sale is expected to occur within 12 months of the reporting date 
(subject to availability of identified willing buyer) are classified as Investment in real estate Held-for-sale. Investment in real 
estate Held-for-sale is measured at fair value in accordance with the fair value model.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible 
asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at each financial period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with 
finite lives is recognised in the consolidated income statement in the expense category consistent with the nature of the 
intangible asset.

Goodwill
Goodwill acquired at the time of acquisitions of subsidiaries is reported in the consolidated statement of the financial position 
as an asset. Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary undertaking at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, the goodwill is tested 
for an impairment on an annual basis. At the end of the financial period, the goodwill is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Negative goodwill resulting from the acquisition of a business or entity is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Acquisition of minority interests is accounted using the Economic Entity Method. Under the Economic Entity Method, the 
purchase of a minority interest is a transaction with a shareholder. As such, any excess consideration over the Group’s share  
of net assets is recorded in members’ equity.

94 ICD Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Sukuk issued
The Sukuk assets have been recognised in the ICD consolidated financial statements, as ICD is the Service Agent, whilst 
noting that ICD has sold these assets at a price to the Sukuk holders through the SPV by a valid sale contract transferring 
ownership thereof to the Sukuk holders, however, ICD continues to be exposed to substantial risks and rewards of ownership 
of the assets sold.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and the  
costs to settle the obligation are both probable and can be measured reliably.

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly 
distinguished from the rest of the activities of the Group and which:

• represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;

• is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs on disposal or abandonment or when the operation meets the criteria to be 
classified as held-for-sale, if earlier.

Once classified as held for sale, assets are not depreciated or amortized.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount as loss 
from discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income.

Employee benefit liabilities 
The Corporation operates three defined post-employment benefit plans for its employees, the Staff Retirement Pension Plan 
(“SRPP”), the Staff Retirement Medical Plan (“SRMP”) and the Retirement Medical Solidarity Plan (“RMSP”). All of these 
plans require contributions to be made to separately administered funds. A defined benefit plan is a plan that defines an 
amount of benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of 
service and percentage of final gross salary. Independent actuaries calculate the defined benefit obligation on an annual basis 
by using the Projected Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of the defined benefit plan and the related service 
costs. The underlying actuarial assumptions are used to determine the projected benefit obligations.

A full actuarial valuation is performed every three years by engaging independent actuaries. For intermediate years, the defined 
benefit obligation is estimated by the independent actuaries using approximate actuarial roll-forward techniques that allow for 
additional benefit accrual, actual cash flows and changes in the underlying actuarial assumptions. 

Actuarial valuation results presented as of 31 December 2023 is based on a roll forward of the data as of 2022 (except for the 
SRMP plan actives, retirees and beneficiaries, data used to calculate their results are adjusted for the transfers to RMSP). For 
RMSP, a full valuation was performed based on data at 30 November 2023.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation due until the retirement date is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows (relating to service accrued to the reporting date) using the yields available on US AA rated corporate 
bonds. The bonds have terms to maturity closely matching the terms of the actual defined benefit obligation. 
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The current service cost of the defined benefit plan recognized in the consolidated income statement reflects the increase 
in the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current year. The cost on defined benefit obligation 
represents increase in liability due to passage of time.

Retrospective modifications to benefits or curtailment gain or loss are accounted for as past service costs or income in the 
consolidated income statement in the period of plan amendment. 

Actuarial gains or losses, if material, are recognized immediately in the reserves under members’ equity in the year they occur. 
The benefit liability is recognized as part of other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. The liability 
represents the present value of the Corporation’s defined benefit obligations, net of the fair value of plan assets.

The pension committee, with advice from the Corporation’s actuaries, determines the Corporation’s contributions to the defined 
benefit scheme and the contributions are transferred to the scheme’s independent custodians.

Revenue recognition 
i) Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 
Income from Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements is recognized on an effective yield basis over the period of the 
contract based on the principal amounts outstanding.

ii) Investment in Sukuk
Income from investments in Sukuk is accrued on an effective yield basis and is recognized in the consolidated income 
statement. For the Sukuk designated at fair value through consolidated income statement, gains and losses resulting from  
the re-measurement of the fair values at the reporting date are also recognized in the consolidated income statement.

iii) Murabaha financing income, Istisna’a income, income from installment sales financing
Murabaha financing income, Istisna’a income and income from installment sale financing are recognized using the effective 
yield over the period of respective transactions.

iv) Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 
Income from Ijarah assets is recognized using the effective yield basis (which represents the Ijarah rental net of depreciation 
against the Ijarah assets) starting from the date the right to use the asset is transferred to the lessee.

v) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the dividend is established i.e. according to its declaration date. 

vi) Management fee 
ICD has several funds under management where it provides portfolio management services for which it charges management 
fees. Management fee is recognized on an accrual basis when the services have been performed.

vii) Administrative fee and advisory fee
ICD offers advisory services which includes Sukuk issuance, conversion to an Islamic Bank, establishment of Islamic Banking 
windows, restructuring, developing regulatory frameworks, capacity building etc. It also charges fees to cover costs incurred 
during the appraisal of financing applications. Income from administrative and advisory services is recognized based on the 
rendering of services as per contractual arrangements. 
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Zakat and tax
The Group, being a multilateral financial institution, is not subject to Zakat in the member countries. Group is subject to  
taxation in the member countries. Taxation applicable on Subsidiaries have been computed based on local tax regulations. 

Segment reporting
Management has determined the chief operating decision maker to be the Board of Directors as this body is responsible for 
overall decisions about resource allocation to development initiatives within its member countries. Development initiatives are 
undertaken through a number of Islamic finance products as disclosed on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position, which are financed centrally through the Corporation’s equity capital and financing. Management has not identified 
separate operating segments within the definition of FAS 22 “Segment Reporting” since the Board of Directors monitor the 
performance and financial position of the Corporation as a whole.

4. Accounting judgments and estimates

Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including professional advices and expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Significant areas where management has used estimates, assumptions or exercised judgments are as follows:

i) Impairment allowance for financing assets
The measurement of credit losses under FAS 30 across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the 
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can 
result in different levels of allowances. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of 
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

The Corporation’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the 
choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements 
and estimates include: 

i) The Corporations internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades; 

ii)  The Corporation’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk necessitating the loss allowance 
to be measured on a 12 month or lifetime ECL basis and the applicable qualitative assessment; 

iii) Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs 

iv)  Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as unemployment levels and 
collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs 

v)  Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs into 
the ECL models

The Corporation exercises judgment in the estimation of impairment allowance for financial assets. The methodology for the 
estimation of impairment of financing assets is set out in note 3 under “impairment of financial assets”.
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ii) Fair value determination 
The fair value of the financial assets that are not quoted in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques 
deemed to be appropriate in the circumstances, primarily, discounted cash flow techniques (DCF), comparable price/book (P/B) 
multiples, recent transactions and where relevant, net asset value (NAV). Where required, the Corporation engages third party 
valuation experts. For certain investments which are start-up entities or in capital disbursement stage, management believes 
cost is an approximation of fair value. 

The models used to determine fair values are validated and periodically reviewed by management. The inputs in the DCF and 
comparable P/B multiples models include observable data, such as discount rates, terminal growth rate, P/B multiples of 
comparable entities to the relevant portfolio of the entity, and unobservable data, such as the discount for lack of marketability 
and control premium. The Corporation also considered the geopolitical situation of the countries where the investee entities 
operate and taken appropriate discount on their values. 

(iii) Employee benefit liabilities 

The pension and medical obligation and the related charge for the period are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, etc. Due to the long-term nature of such 
obligations, these estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

(iv) Going concern
Group management assessed the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that they are not aware of any 
material uncertainties that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In arriving at this conclusion, 
management considered many factors amongst which are; the Group’s liquidity ratio, the forecast trend in profitability, the 
performance of the existing portfolio, the capital adequacy ratio and the Group’s ability to raise funds from both shareholders 
and the capital market. Consequently, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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5. Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Cash at banks 79,514,858 222,711,295  
Cash in hand 3,230,097 8,154,113  
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements (note 6) 127,764,669 108,082,400
Accrued income on Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placement 91,926 129,631 
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 26) (163,178) (176,739)

210,438,372 338,900,700  
Bank balance relating to ICD Solidarity Fund 1,188,459 1,188,459

211,626,831 340,089,159

Certain bank accounts with balance of USD 263,525 (31 December 2022: USD 2,197,720) are in the name of Islamic 
Development Bank (IsDB). However, these bank accounts are beneficially owned and managed/operated by the Group.

Commodity Murabaha placements included within cash and cash equivalents are those placements which have original maturity 
of equal to or less than three months. Commodity Murabaha placements with original maturity of above three months are 
disclosed in note 6.

6. Commodity murabaha and wakala placements

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 176,985,862 192,517,606
Accrued income on Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 3,975,309 3,978,356
Less: Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements with an original maturity of three 
months or less (note 5)

(127,764,669) (108,082,400)

Less: allowance for credit losses (note 26) (21,192,793) (36,084,738)

32,003,709 52,328,824

a)  All the above Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements are with international financial institutions and denominated in 
US Dollars.

b)  Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements include an amount of USD 356,164 (2022: USD 316,790) provided to a related 
party of the Group, over which the Group earned profit of USD nil (31 December 2022: USD nil).
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7. Investments in sukuk, shares and other securities

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Investment in sukuk (note 7.1) 1,441,356,224 1,549,287,994
Investments in shares (note 7.2) 80,785,318 85,602,400
Investment in other securities - 18,534,990

1,522,141,542 1,653,425,384

7.1 Investment in sukuk

31 December 2023

Amortised Cost
Fair value 

through equity 
Fair value through 

profit or loss Total
Listed Sukuk 989,080,537 456,293,220 - 1,445,373,757
Un-listed Sukuk 14,967,547 23,564,354 331,916 38,863,817

1,004,048,084 479,857,574 331,916 1,484,237,574
Less:
Unrealised fair value losses - (26,617,295) - (26,617,295)
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 26) (15,246,980) (1,017,075) - (16,264,055)

988,801,104 452,223,204 331,916 1,441,356,224

31 December 2022

Amortised Cost
Fair value 

through equity 
Fair value through 

profit or loss Total
Listed Sukuk 1,085,327,954 446,293,220 22,507,463 1,554,128,637 
Un-listed Sukuk 18,944,824 18,553,490 507,719 38,006,033 

1,104,272,778 464,846,710 23,015,182 1,592,134,670
Less:
Unrealised fair value gain/ (losses) - (31,341,263) 1,774,941 (29,566,322)
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 26) (13,280,354) - - (13,280,354)

1,090,992,424 433,505,447 24,790,123 1,549,287,994
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31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Opening balance 1,549,287,994 1,536,402,435 
Deemed acquisition (note 2) - 23,015,182
Additions 195,104,250  398,761,597 
Redemptions (300,676,50)  (367,386,246)
Exchange gain/(loss) 863,597  (1,860,951)
Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) through equity 4,723,968  (31,341,263)
Amortised premium (4,960,858)  (7,382,445)
Fair value gain/(loss) through consolidated income statement -  1,774,941
Charge for impairment (2,986,224) (2,695,256)

1,441,356,224 1,549,287,994

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Financial institutions 965,620,463 1,044,823,294 
Governments 327,422,344 366,853,185 
Others 148,313,417 137,611,515 

1,441,356,224 1,549,287,994

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

AAA 119,885,583 119,329,668 
AA + to AA- 75,960,987 76,193,259 
A + to A- 672,878,002 712,979,527
BBB + or lower 572,631,652 640,785,540

1,441,356,224 1,549,287,994

Sukuk investments included an amount of USD 119,885,583 (31 December 2022: USD 119,466,546) invested in Sukuk issued by 
IsDB and IILM, over which the Group earned profit of USD 2,087,065 (31 December 2022: USD 2,027,268) 

Income from sukuk investments recognised during the year in consolidated income statement are as follows:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Coupon income 44,094,071 45,017,896
Realized gain/(loss) 318,747 (735,107)
Premium amortization (4,960,858) (7,382,445)

Total income 39,451,960 36,900,344
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7.2 Investment in shares and other securities

31 December 2023 31 December 2022 31 December 2023 31 December 2022

(Percentage holding) ------ (USD) -----
Un-quoted companies

Zaman Bank 5% 5% 1,211,091  1,216,501 
Al Hadha Mills 16% 16% 2,345,584  2,456,518 
Al-Muttahed 3% 3% 8,863,863  8,840,405 
Berber Cement Co. 10% 10% 2,521,556  3,349,856 
Byblos Bank Africa -Sudan 9% 9% 376,220  617,927 
Caspian International Investment Company 18% 18% 2,057,523 2,866,454
Ibdar Bank (Elaf) 2% 2% 1,944,811  1,951,534 
Al Baraka Bank 12% 12% 6,590,660  5,898,846 
International Islamic Liquidity Management  
Corporation (“IILMC”)

10% 10% 21,360,810  17,626,896 

Bidaya Home Finance – KSA 11% 11% 25,724,357  27,183,368 
Ijmal Limited 15% 15% 931,480  1,164,936 
Euro Mediterranean Investment Company 34% 34% 1,676,080  1,676,080 
Liquidity Management Center (LMC) 10% 10% 4,795,600  4,427,700 
South European Investment (SEIC) 20% 20% 385,683  173,725 

Investment funds

ICD Global Sustainable Fund - 13% - 6,151,654

80,785,318  85,602,400

During the year, all units of ICD Global Sustainable Fund were redeemed in February 2023.
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8. Murabaha financing

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Murabaha financing 488,244,987 163,263,312
Accrued income 693,977 1,676,369
Deferred income (67,020,056) (23,270,567) 

421,918,908 141,669,114

Allowance for credit losses (note 26) (44,338,466)  (56,787,718)

377,580,442 84,881,396

All goods purchased for resale under Murabaha financing are made on the basis of specific purchase for subsequent resale to 
the customer. The promise of the customer is considered to be binding. Consequently, any loss suffered by the Group as a result 
of default by the customer prior to the sale of goods is charged to the customer.

9. Installment sales financing

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Installment sales financing 345,241,729 576,627,694
Accrued income 7,049,157 8,476,629
Deferred income (15,724,187) (45,085,744)

336,566,699 540,018,579

Allowance for credit losses (note 26) (28,524,698) (36,802,172)

308,042,001 503,216,407

All goods purchased for resale under installment sales financing are made on the basis of specific purchase for subsequent 
resale to the customers. The promise of the customer is considered to be binding. Consequently, any loss suffered by the Group 
as a result of default by the customer prior to the sale of goods is charged to the customer.

Installment sales financing included financing of USD 5,566,186 (31 December 2022: USD 34,104,666) provided to related 
parties of the Group, over which the Group earned profit of USD nil (31 December 2022: USD 1,905,720).
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10. Ijarah muntahia bittamleek

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Cost:
Assets not yet in use:
At the beginning of the year - 22,602,000
Additions 34,980,800 50,184,833
Transferred to assets in use (34,980,800) (72,786,833)

- -
Assets in use:
At the beginning of the year 298,478,656 358,000,593
Transferred from assets acquired 34,980,800 72,786,833
Assets transferred to beneficiaries - (132,572,903)
Forex revaluation 1,355,970 264,132

334,815,426 298,478,655

Total cost 334,815,426 298,478,655

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Accumulated depreciation:
At the beginning of the year 81,405,834 165,560,074
Charge for the year 23,762,374 23,823,800
Adjustment 16,033,622 -
Depreciation on assets transferred to beneficiaries - (107,978,040)

Total depreciation 121,201,830 81,405,834

Accrued income 40,567,308 22,510,102

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, gross 254,180,904 239,582,923

Allowance for credit losses (note 26) (23,954,756) (24,680,051)

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, net 230,226,148 214,902,872

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek includes financing of USD 16,615,648 (31 December 2022: USD 17,655,267) provided to related 
parties of the Group over which the Group earned profit of USD 1,339,791 (31 December 2022: USD 421,808). Certain assets 
referred above represent the Group’s share in joint Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek agreements.
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Future rentals receivable relating to Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek as at 31 December 2023 are estimated to be USD 349.9 million 
(2022: USD 323.72 million). The precise amount at the end of each period is only known prior to the commencement of the 
period, as some of the rentals are determined based on floating rates. Detail of the receivables is shown below:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Expected within 12 months 58,327,902 47,663,464
Expected after 12 months but less than 5 years 170,733,217 144,941,662
Expected after 5 years 120,860,465 131,118,034

349,921,584 323,723,160

Future commitments related to Ijarah contracts are summarized in note 33 and these are expected to be paid within 12 months.

11. Istisna’a assets

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Istisna’a financing                                                 14,474,582 17,401,333
Accrued income                                               41,203 133,863
Deferred income (2,645,399) (3,879,443)

11,870,386 13,655,753

Allowance for credit losses (note 26) (32,832) (96,201)

11,837,554 13,559,552

12. Income from financing assets

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Murabaha financing 16,728,467 4,683,720
Installment sales financing 24,937,682  19,264,539
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek (IMB), net (note 25) 20,284,903 12,110,985
Istisna’a assets 580,184 735,075
Others - 1,508,159

Total income from financing assets 62,531,236 38,302,478
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13. Equity investments

The Group directly or through intermediaries, owns equity investments. Based on the effective holding of the Group, the 
investments in equity capital as at the end of the year comprised of the following:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Associates 168,611,127 150,465,318 

The movement in investments for the year is as follows:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

At the beginning of the year 150,465,318 288,037,459
Additions 4,810,779 6,601,906
Share of profit from associates 17,991,414 13,395,384
Transfer to held for sale - (1,150,000)
Subsidiaries net impact due to consolidation - (136,177,407)
Disposals - (1,257,232) 
Impairment during the year - (7,422,946)
Dividend received (5,627,072) (1,967,803)
Foreign currency translation gain/ (loss) 970,688 (9,594,043)

At the end of the year 168,611,127 150,465,318 
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13.1 Investments in associates

Effective ownership percentage in associates and their countries of incorporation at the end of the year and nature of business 
are as follows:

Name of entity Country of incorporation Nature of business Effective ownership %

2023 2022

Al-Akhdar Bank Morocco Banking 49 49

Enmaa Ijara Company Egypt Leasing 47 47

Bank Islamic Du Senegal Senegal Banking 45 45
Theemar Investment Fund Tunisia Fund 40 40
Anfaal Capital Saudi Arabia Investment Advisory 38 38
Kyrgyzstan Ijara Company Kyrgyzstan Leasing 37 37
Kazakhstan Ijara Company Kazakhstan Leasing 36 36
Albania Leasing Albania Leasing 36 36
Maldives Islamic Bank Maldives Banking 33 33
Palestine Ijarah Company Palestine Leasing 33 33
Halic Finansal Kiralama A.S.                               Turkey                              Leasing 33 33
Al Fareeda Residential Fund Saudi Arabia Real Estate 33 33
Wifack International Bank Tunisia Leasing 30 30
ICD Money Market Labuan Malaysia Asset Mgt. - 29
Royal Atlantic Residence Gambia Real Estate - 25
Saudi SME Fund (Afaq) Saudi Arabia Fund 25 25
Al Sharkeya Sugar Egypt Manufacturing 22 22
Jordan Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Co. Jordan Manufacturing 22 22
Saba Islamic Bank Yemen Banking 20 20
Arab Leasing Company Sudan Leasing 20 20
Turkish Asset Management (K.A.M.P) Turkey Fund 20 20
Amana Bank Plc Sri Lanka Banking 25 24

(a) In the above table, certain associates are carried at nil value where the Group had invested in earlier years and were fully 
impaired.

(b)  There are no regulatory or contractual arrangements that restrict the associates ability to transfer funds in the form of cash 
dividends or repay financing or advances made to them by the Group. The Group sometimes extends financial assistance in 
the form of advances to its associates.

(c) ICD Money Market Fund LLP (MMF) was liquidated during the year (note 36).

(d)  Investment in Royal Atlantic Resident (RAR) amounting to USD 1.15 million, which comprised of only land in Gambia, in which 
the Corporation owned 25% equity stake, was sold for USD 2 million in May 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The financial position and revenue of associates based on their financial statements which were considered by the Group for the 
end of the financial reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2023 Total assets
USD

Total liabilities
USD

Net profit/(loss)
USD

Share of profit/(loss)
USD

Al-Akhdar Bank 380,887,327 359,977,793 142,892 70,017

Enmaa Ijara Company 69,480,847 59,328,890 1,875,532 884,126

Bank Islamic Du Senegal 1,265,471,732 1,142,130,108 9,346,079 4,187,043
Theemar Investment Fund 8,045,806 80,062 1,383,203 553,281
Anfaal Capital  -  -  -  - 
Kyrgyzstan Ijara Company 3,981,032 382,904 303,283 111,002
Kazakhstan Ijara Company 34,895,057 12,631,247 2,814,434 1,006,723
Albania Leasing 6,707,281 2,936,055 (367,489) (130,973)
Maldives Islamic Bank 532,543,757 472,610,425 11,851,054 3,910,848
Palestine Ijarah Company 32,296,376 19,345,152 658,911 219,615
Halic Finansal Kiralama A.S.                               1,298,772 97,923 210,846 69,565
Al Fareeda Residential Fund  -  -  -  - 
Wifack International Bank 476,865,554 422,053,315 6,680,227 2,004,068
Saudi SME Fund (Afaq) - - 62,994 15,749
Al Sharkeya Sugar 261,540,659 205,688,377 68,997,016 4,738,874
Jordan Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Co.  -  -  -  - 
Saba Islamic Bank  -  -  -  - 
Arab Leasing Company 21,848,430 12,276,676 (2,917,252) (583,450)
Turkish Asset Management (K.A.M.P)  -  -  -  - 
Amana Bank Plc 491,360,219 424,867,368 3,904,821 934,926
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31 December 2022 Total assets
USD

Total liabilities
USD

Net profit/(loss)
USD

Share of profit/(loss)
USD

Al-Akhdar Bank 340,633,883 320,999,904 (978,126) (479,282)

Enmaa Ijara Company 81,031,823 70,694,096 1,648,295 777,006

Bank Islamic Du Senegal 1,203,905,581 1,086,716,112 19,396,991 8,689,852
Theemar Investment Fund 9,781,255 80,062 24,526 9,810
Anfaal Capital  -  -  -  - 
Kyrgyzstan Ijara Company 3,588,737  158,964 103,781 37,984
Kazakhstan Ijara Company 32,978,408 12,953,470 2,257,581 807,537
Albania Leasing 6,921,937 3,264,726 (152,070) (54,198)
Maldives Islamic Bank 399,166,401 348,751,396 7,834,763 2,585,472
Palestine Ijarah Company 25,901,244 13,608,931 612,168 204,036
Halic Finansal Kiralama A.S.                               1,636,267 12,255 193,647 63,904
Al Fareeda Residential Fund  -  -  -  - 
Wifack International Bank 401,993,840 350,422,605 1,703,219 510,966
Royal Atlantic Residence  -  -  -  - 
Saudi SME Fund (Afaq) 1,587,392 162,567 (173,779) (43,445)
Al Sharkeya Sugar 239,681,482 255,841,492 57,451,298 -
Jordan Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Co.  -  -  -  - 
Saba Islamic Bank  -  -  -  - 
Arab Leasing Company 19,007,114 7,685,818 1,428,712 285,742
Turkish Asset Management (K.A.M.P)  -  -  -  - 
Amana Bank Plc 388,105,079 348,767,104 2,394,712 -

13.2 Equity investment income:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Share of profit from associate 17,991,414 13,395,384
Others 1,307,779 1,467,092

19,299,213 14,862,476
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14. Investment in real estate properties

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Balance at beginning of the year 77,679,145 -
Recognition as a result of deemed acquisition of the subsidiaries - 74,626,000
Fair value gain recognized in equity 1,783,258 3,053,145

Balance at end of the year 79,462,403 77,679,145

The above real estate properties are held by Al Majmoua Al Mauritania (a subsidiary) in Mauritania. In December 2023, 
independent valuations by reputable real estate valuation firm were obtained for the real estate investments at 31 December 
2023 and 31 December 2022. The evaluator used discounted cash flow approach and residual value approach in their valuations 
in 2023 and 2022.

 
15. Other assets

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Positive fair value of Islamic derivative financial instrument (note a) 5,199,056 9,974,232
Due from related parties (note 24.3) 2,006,749 1,912,807
Accrued income 11,631,870 12,693,001
Advances to employees 9,183,118 8,106,068
Taxes 139,447 789,055
Advances for goods and services to suppliers 413,042 481,201
Property and equipment 6,028,500 12,408,994
Other receivables 17,939,312 25,008,442

52,541,094 71,373,800

Allowance for credit losses (note 26) (7,586,786) (6,067,751)

44,954,308 65,306,049

(a)  The Islamic derivative financial instruments represent Islamic foreign currency forwards contracts, Islamic profit rate swaps 
and Islamic cross currency profit rate swaps. The Islamic foreign currency forward contracts and cross currency profit rate 
swaps are used as economic hedges to mitigate the risk of currency fluctuation for placements with financial institutions, 
Sukuk investments, financing assets and Sukuk issued. Profit rate swaps are held to mitigate the effects of the fluctuation 
in the changes in the cost of financing by matching the floating rate financing with floating rate income. The Group has not 
designated Islamic cross currency swaps and forward contracts instruments in a hedging relationship and, therefore, does 
not follow hedge accounting requirements of the relevant standards. In 2023, the Group has entered into new Islamic profit 
rate swaps which have been designated in a hedging relationship and, therefore, follow hedge accounting requirements 
of the relevant standards. Included in the table below is the positive and negative fair values of Islamic derivative financial 
instruments, together with their notional amounts:
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Islamic derivative financial instrument Notional amount
USD

Positive fair value
USD

Negative fair value  
USD

Islamic cross currency swaps 232,126,388 5,199,056 -
Islamic profit rate swaps 428,352,206 - (3,559,808)
Islamic forward contracts 38,363,500 - (294,245)

31 December 2023  698,842,094 5,199,056  (3,854,053)

Islamic derivative financial instrument Notional amount 
USD

Positive fair value 
USD

Negative fair value 
USD

Islamic cross currency swaps 216,989,157 7,588,297 -

Islamic profit rate swaps 86,500,000 87,298 (478,193)

Islamic forward contracts 10,730,951 2,298,637 -

31 December 2022 314,220,108 9,974,232 (478,193)

The gain or loss on the hedged items, representing placements with financial institutions, Sukuk investments, financing assets 
and Sukuk issued are disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In addition to above, the Group entered into Islamic cross currency swaps and Islamic forward contracts on behalf of Arab Bank 
for Economic Development for Africa (BADEA) through a master agreement dated 13 June 2016. The notional value of such 
swaps is USD 14.1 million (31 December 2022: USD 27.8 million).

16. Sukuk issued

Issue date Maturity  
date

Issue  
currency

Amount 
USD

Rate 31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Listed
15-10-2020 15-10-2025 USD 600,000,000 1.81% Fixed 601,739,649 600,936,099

Not listed

05-03-2020 05-03-2025 SAR 100,000,000 SIBOR+0.60% 100,570,137 100,229,343
21-06-2023 21-12-2024 KZT 4,489,691 2.468% Fixed 3,999,879 -

21-12-2023 21-12-2028 USD 100,000,000 4.195% Fixed 100,147,118 -

804,489,691 806,456,783 701,165,442

The Sukuk (trust certificates) Issued confer on Certificate Holders the right to receive payments (Periodic Distributions) on 
specified dates (Periodic Distribution Dates) out of the profit elements of Ijarah assets, Equity Investments, Sukuk Investments 
and receivables in respect of Murabaha contracts, Shari’ah compliant authorised investments and any replaced assets 
(collectively the “Portfolio”) sold at each Series (issuance) by the Group to ICDPS Sukuk Limited (the Trustee).

After the sale of the Portfolio, the Group as a third party, guarantees the performance of the Portfolio to the Trustee, to the effect 
that if any obligor of an asset under the Portfolio is unable to pay any amount owed, the Group will make the payment. Also, 
the Group undertakes to purchase the Portfolio on the Maturity Date or Early Dissolution Date for an amount equivalent to the 
Aggregate Nominal Amount (i.e., price of the original sale of the Portfolio to ICDPS Sukuk Limited).
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17. Commodity murabaha financing liabilities

The Group has entered into commodity murabaha purchase and sale agreements with certain financial institutions. Under the 
terms of the agreements, the Group has purchased certain commodities from these financial institutions on deferred payment 
basis and has simultaneously sold these through those banks to third parties. The outstanding balance as of 31 December 2023 
of USD 989 million (2022: USD 1,061 million) represents the purchase price under these agreements. The Group has financings 
with original maturities ranging from 3 to 7 years (31 December 2022: 3 to 7 years).

18. Accrued and other liabilities

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Negative fair value of Islamic derivative (note 15 (a)) 3,854,053 478,193
Due to related parties (note 24.4) 1,786,078 3,260,963
Taxes (VAT, income tax etc) 2,191,308 1,371,112
Advances received 651,760 1,112,842
Dividend payable 4,108,563 4,108,563
Current and other similar accounts 19,756,658 217,871,793

32,348,420 228,203,466

19. Employee benefit liabilities

IsDB Group staff retirement plan comprises of defined benefit and hybrid plan within staff pension plan (“SPP”), staff retirement 
medical plan (“SRMP”) and retirees medical solidarity plan (“RMSP”) (collectively referred to as staff retirement plans (“SRPs”)). 
Every person employed by the Bank and its Affiliates on a full-time basis, as defined in the Bank and Affiliates employment 
policies, is eligible to participate in the SRP from the date joining the Bank.

IsDB Group has a multi-employer plan and includes the Corporation, Islamic Development Bank - Ordinary Capital Resources 
(IsDB-OCR), Special Account Resources Waqf Fund (WAQF), Islamic Corporation for Development (ICD), Islamic Corporation for 
the Insurance of Investments and Export Credit (ICIEC) and Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD). 

Staff Pension Plan (SPP)
SPP is a combination of both old defined benefit plan (Pillar I) and new hybrid pension plan (Pillar II) became effective on 1st 
Rajab 1399H (corresponding to May 27, 1979) and 17/05/1442H (01/01/2021G) respectively. Every person employed by the Bank 
and its Affiliates on a full-time basis except for fixed term employees, as defined in the employment policies of the Bank and its 
Affiliates, is eligible to participate in the SPP, from the date joining the Bank and its affiliates. Participation in the hybrid pension 
plan is limited to those who have less than five years of service as of December 31, 2020 on optional basis however, those who 
joined the Bank from January 1, 2021 are enrolled automatically.

In both Pillars, the employee contributes at a rate of 11.1% (2022-11.1%) of the basic annual salary while the Bank and its 
Affiliates contribute 25.9% (2022-25.9%).

The main features of the SPP are:

(i) Normal retirement age is the 62nd anniversary of the participant’s birth.
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(ii)  On retirement, the eligible retired employee is entitled to 2.5% under the old staff retirement plan or 1% under the hybrid 
plan in the Defined Benefit (“DB”) component, of the Weighted Highest Average Remuneration (“WHAR”) (as defined by 
the pension committee)( for each year of pensionable service and limited to a maximum of 30 hijri years).

(iii)  10% of Bank and its Affiliates contribution of 25.9%, and 5% of employees contribution of 11.1%, are used to fund the 
Defined Cost (“DC”) component of the hybrid plan. The accumulated fund and its investment returns will be paid as 
retirement lump sum benefits to the participants in the hybrid plan. 

(iv)  Benefits payment upon early retirement, disability benefits, termination benefits, pre-retirement death or post retirement 
death benefits are also paid as determined by the Pension Committee.

Staff Retirement Medical Plan (SRMP)
Effective 1st Muharram 1421H (corresponding to April 6, 2000), the Bank established the medical benefit scheme for retired 
employee via the BED resolution dated 18 Shawwal 1418H (corresponding to February 15, 1998). This was extended to eligible 
staff members of the Bank’s Affiliates i.e. for SPP. The Bank and its Affiliates at rate 1% and the staff at a rate 0.5% of the 
basic salaries respectively fund the SRMP. The purpose of the SRMP is to pay a monthly amount to eligible retired employee 
towards their medical expenses.

The entitlements payable for each retired employee under the medical plan is computed according to the following formula:

WHAR (as defined by the pension committee) X contributory period (limited to a maximum of 30 hijri years) X 0.18%.

Benefits payment upon early retirement, disability benefits, termination benefits, pre-retirement death or post retirement 
death benefits are also paid as determined by the pension committee.

Retirees Medical Solidarity Plan (RMSP)
In February 2019, the BED approved, establishment of the Retirees Medical Solidarity Plan (RMSP) which would provide new 
medical coverage benefits for IsDB Group staff future retirees. Under the proposal, active staff members who have at least  
10 years of service period before their normal retirement age as of January 1, 2019 will automatically fall under RMSF. Those 
staff members who do not meet the minimum service period threshold will be offered the option to join the new Fund.

Under RMSP, retirees will have their actual medical costs covered as per the minimum guaranteed benefit schedule. This 
mainly covers hospitalization and emergency care, repatriation and ambulance transport. Overseas specialist hospitalization 
and outpatient care is also covered but only in specified countries.

Members of RMSP started to receive benefits as from 1 April 2022 (the start date of the Plan).

RMSP contributions are funded on 4/4/4 % basis. Employees contribute 4% of their pensionable salaries and the employer 
matches it with 4%. Retirees also contribute 4% of their pension

(before commutation withdrawals). Both Employer and Employee contributions started to accrue on January 1, 2019 and at  
1 August 2022, employees started cash contributions to RMSP. These contributions cumulated before 1 April 2023 have been 
recognized as part of plan assets during the year. 

Retirees did not contribute up until 1 April 2022 and received benefits under the RMSP up until that point.
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Administration of SRPs
The Pension Committee appointed by the President of IsDB Group, administers SRPs as separate funds on behalf of its 
employees. The Pension Committee is responsible for the oversight of investment and actuarial activities of the SRPs. The SRP’s 
assets are invested in accordance with the policies set out by the Pension Committee. The Bank and its affiliates underwrite the 
investment and actuarial risk of the SRPs and share the administrative expenses.

Risks
Investment risk
The present value of the SRPs’ liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality corporate 
bond yields; if the return on SRPs’ asset is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the SRPs’ have a relatively 
balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and real estate. Due to the long-term nature of the SRPs’ liabilities, 
the administrator of SRPs’ consider it appropriate that a reasonable portion of the SRPs’ assets should be invested in equity 
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by the fund.

Discount rate
A decrease in the bond return rate will increase the SRPs’ liability but this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on 
the SRPs’ debt investments. 

Longevity risk
The present value of the SRPs’ liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of SRPs’ participants both 
during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the SRPs’ participants will increase the SRPs’ liability. 

Salary risk
The present value of the SRPs’ liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of SRPs’ participants. As such, an increase 
in the salary of the SRPs’ participants will increase the SRP’ liability.

The breakdown of net employee pension liabilities was as follows:

2023 SPP RMSP SRMP Total

31 December 2023 (USD)

Defined benefit obligations (note 19.1) 65,460,270 1,105,775 1,082,872 67,648,917
Less: plan assets (note 19.2) (47,862,303) (3,506,789) (591,129) (51,960,221)

Net employee benefit liabilities 17,597,967 (2,401,014) 491,743 15,688,696

2022 SPP RMSP SRMP Total

31 December 2022 (USD)

Defined benefit obligations (note 19.1) 57,944,854 776,755 1,036,286 59,757,895
Less: plan assets (note 19.2) (43,111,985) (4,904,164) (550,733) (48,566,882)

Net employee benefit liabilities 14,832,869 (4,127,409) 485,553 11,191,013
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19.1 The movement in the present value of defined benefit obligation is as follows:

SPP RMSP SRMP

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

Balance as at 1 January 57,944,854 83,638,356 776,755 - 1,036,286 7,108,723
Current service costs 4,062,753 5,440,853 267,608 569,898 23,915 36,635
Past service costs - (2,425,096) - -
Cost of defined benefit obligation 2,979,000 2,395,000 53,000 164,059 52,000 38,941
Plan participants contributions 1,514,287 1,478,737 573,544 480,325 2,421 9,291
Net actuarial (loss)/gain 540,396 (33,627,090) (526,379) (3,735,121) 33,476 (374,256)
Disbursements from plan assets (1,581,020) (1,381,002) (38,753) - (65,226) (60,358)
Increase/(decrease) due to plan combinations - - - 5,722,690 - (5,722,690)

65,460,270 57,944,854 1,105,775 776,755 1,082,872 1,036,286

19.2 The movement in the present value of the plan assets is as follows:

SPP RMSP SRMP

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

Balance as at 1 January 43,111,985 48,535,006 4,904,164 - 550,733 2,488,305
Income on plan assets 2,309,000 1,441,000 149,362 - 27,000 28,293

Return on plan assets greater/(less) 
than discount rate

(634,991) (10,593,988) - - - (461,001)

Plan participants contributions 1,514,287 1,478,737 573,544 480,325 2,421 9,291
Employer contribution 3,627,214 3,463,626 578,056 473,053 16,329 18,583
Employer Direct Settlement Payments - - - - - 11,485
Disbursements from plan assets (1,581,020) (1,381,002) (38,753) - (65,226) (60,358)
Increase/(decrease) due to plan combinations - - - 1,481,500 56,645 (1,481,500)
Others (484,172) 168,606 (2,659,584) 2,469,286 3,227 (2,365)

47,862,303 43,111,985 3,506,789 4,904,164 591,129 550,733

The above net liability mainly represents the cumulative actuarial losses resulting from the difference between the actual 
experience and the assumptions used in estimating the liability, which is recognized by the Group in the members’ equity 
immediately in the year, it arises, if material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

19.3  Based on the actuarial valuations, the pension and medical benefit expenses for the year comprised  
the following:

SPP RMSP SRMP

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

Gross current service costs 4,062,753 5,440,853 267,608 569,898 23,915 36,635
Cost of defined benefit obligation 2,979,000 2,395,000 53,000 164,059 52,000 38,941
Past service costs - - (2,425,096) - -
Income from plan assets (2,309,000) (1,441,000) (149,362) - (27,000) (28,293)

Cost recognized in consolidated income statement 4,732,753 6,394,853 171,246 (1,691,139) 48,915 47,283

Actuarial loss/(gain) due to change in assumption 540,396 (33,627,090) (526,380) (3,735,121) 33,476 (371,891)
Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate 648,327 10,593,988 - - (56,645) 461,001
Other 424,065 (168,606) 2,659,585 (2,469,286) (14,711) -

Actuarial loss/(gain) recognized in statement  
of changes in members’ equity 1,612,788 (23,201,708) 2,133,205 (6,204,407) (37,880) 89,110

19.4 The following table presents the plan assets by major category:

SPP RMSP SRMP

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

Investments in Sukuk 8,991,150 12,167,231 824,738 959,315 61,683 57,128
Managed funds and Installment sales 12,174,205 10,310,780 - - - -
Cash and cash equivalent and commodity placements 26,075,159 16,542,162 2,321,262 765,048 521,287 679,348
Land 615,978 3,877,670 - - - -
Syndicated Murabaha - 214,142 - 1,905,666 - -
Others 5,811 - 360,789 1,274,135 8,159 (185,743)

47,862,303 43,111,985 3,506,789 4,904,164 591,129 550,733
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

19.5 The assumptions used to calculate the pension plans liabilities are as follows:

SPP RMSP SRMP

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

Discount rate 5.00% 5.10% 5.00% 5.10% 5.00% 5.10%
Rate of expected salary increase 4.5-6.5% 4.5-6.5% 4.5-6.5% 4.5-6.5% 4.5-6.5% 4.5-6.5%

The discount rate used in determining the benefit obligations is selected by reference to the long-term rates on AA rated  
Corporate Bonds. Rate of expected salaries increase for 2023 was based on age i.e., 20-35 years – 6.5%, 35-50 years – 5.0% 
and above 50 years – 4.5%.

19.6  The quantitative sensitivity analysis for change in discount rate on the employee benefit liabilities  
are as follows:

2023 SPP RMSP SRMP

+0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -0.5%

Discount rate (5,716,089) 6,525,847 (207,777) 258,987 (62,569) 72,084

2022 SPP RMSP SRMP

+0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -0.5%

Discount rate (5,138,887) 5,875,285 (162,846) 205,328 (62,615) 69,648

The following table summarizes the expected funding status for the next year:

SPP RMSP SRMP

Present value of defined benefit obligation 74,075,224 2,044,218 1,123,343
Fair value of plan assets (54,953,101) (4,863,283) (592,014)

Plan surplus/(deficit 19,122,123 (2,819,065) 531,329

SPP
The expected employer contribution for the year ended 31 December 2023 is USD 3.6 million and expected costs to be 
recognized in consolidated income statement is USD 4.7 million.

SRMP
The expected employer contribution for the year ended 31 December 2023 is USD 16.3 k and expected costs to be recognized  
in consolidated income statement is USD 49k.

RMSP
The expected employer contribution for the year ended 31 December 2023 is USD 578.1 k and expected costs to be recognized 
in consolidated income statement is USD 171k.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The amounts recognized in the pension and medical obligations reserve are as follows:

SPP RMSP SRMP

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

31 December 
2023  

(USD)

31 December 
2022  

(USD)

January 1 1,458,403 24,491,505 (3,735,120) - 680,947 1,516,212
Effect of changes in financial assumptions 1,204,055 (34,431,486) 4,618 (1,366,942) 13,518 (386,078)
Effect of experience adjustments (663,659) 804,396 (530,997) (2,368,178) 19,957 11,820
Return on plan assets greater than discount rate 648,327 10,593,988 - - 56,646 (461,007)

2,647,126 1,458,403 (4,261,499) (3,735,120) 771,068 680,947

The expected maturity analysis is below:

SPP
2023

RMSP
2023

SRMP
2023

Year 1 524,350 5,296 43,194
Year 2 1,403,155 5,414 52,097
Year 3 1,111,824 4,725 51,467
Year 4 661,361 5,993 50,802
Year 5 1,626,975 6,988 62,663
Next five years 8,985,775 138,810 327,780

SPP
2022

RMSP
2022

SRMP
2022

Year 1 535,690 - 43,677
Year 2 525,368 - 42,913
Year 3 1,366,230 (1,518) 51,613
Year 4 1,093,757 (3,357) 50,992
Year 5 660,438 (3,009) 50,336
Next five years 8,895,461 148,911 315,852
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20. Amounts due to ICD Solidarity Fund

This represents net accumulated income up to 31 December 2023 generated from liquid fund placements with certain 
conventional banks and financial institutions which was discontinued by ICD and other income which were not considered 
in compliance with the Shari’ah principles. As per the recommendation of the Shari’ah Board of IsDB Group, this income  
needs o be utilized for charitable purposes and, therefore, has been classified as a liability. The disposition of this liability is  
he responsibility of the Charity Committee formed within the Group. The sources and uses of ICD Solidarity Fund during the  
year are as follows:

Description

Sources & Uses of Shari’ah non-compliant income

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

No. of  
events

Amount  
(USD)

No. of  
events

Amount  
(USD)

At the beginning of the year 1,188,550 1,220,122
Income during the year:
Income from Solidarity Fund - - -
Forex valuation - - 12 134
Penalty to customers on default 2 (223) 2 19,262

(223) 19,396

Paid during the year:
Support for orphanage - 2 50,968

- 50,968

At the end of the year 1,188,327 1,188,550
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21. Paid‑up capital

The share capital of the Group at year end comprises of the following:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Authorized share capital: 400,000 shares of USD 10,000 each 4,000,000,000 4,000,000,000

Subscribed capital share:
Available for subscription: 200,000 shares of USD 10,000 each 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
Share capital not yet subscribed (279,664,646) (279,664,646)

1,720,335,354 1,720,335,354
Installments due not yet paid (132,782,517) (133,598,908)

Paid-up capital 1,587,552,837 1,586,736,446

In 2023, USD 0.8 million (2022: 3.81 million) received from the shareholders. The paid-up capital of the Group represents 
amounts received from the following members:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Islamic Development Bank (IsDB) 659,681,958 659,681,958
Saudi Public Investment Fund 124,940,000 124,940,000
Member countries 753,930,879 753,914,488
Iran Foreign Investment Company 40,000,000 40,000,000
Bank Keshavarzi 6,000,000 6,000,000
Bank Melli 2,000,000 2,000,000
Bank Nationale D’Algerie 1,000,000 200,000

Paid-up capital 1,587,552,837 1,586,736,446

22. Reserve and dividend

In accordance with Section 1 of Article No. 33 of the Articles of Agreement of the Corporation, the General Assembly shall 
determine the part of the Group’s net income and surplus after making provision for reserves to be distributed as dividend.  
In any event, no dividend shall be distributed before reserve reach 12.5% of the subscribed capital. No dividend was paid or 
declared in 2023 and 2022.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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23. Other income

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Fair value gain on Islamic derivatives net of exchange loss 4,304,694 1,069,512
Management and advisory fees 139,021 5,538,384
Other 4,510,386 9,845,143

8,954,101 16,453,039

24. Related party transactions and balances

Related parties represent subsidiaries, associated companies, members, directors and key management personnel of the 
Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these 
transactions are approved by the Group’s management.

24.1 The following are the details of major related party transactions entered during the year:

Related parties Nature of Transactions Relationship 31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Islamic Development Bank Group Rent & pension Shareholder 1,455,926 1,455,926
Maldives Islamic Bank Sale of Shares Associate - 781,634

24.2 Certain related party transactions and balances have been disclosed in notes 5 to 10.

24.3 Due from related parties comprised the following:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Maldives Islamic Bank 347,431
Wifack International Bank 500,968 500,968
International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation (ITFC) 107,093 124,361
Others 1,398,688 940,047

2,006,749 1,912,807
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24.4 Due to related parties comprised the following:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Islamic Development Bank (IsDB) 1,300,302 1,463,518
IsDB Staff Retirement Pension Plan - 736,169
Others 485,776 1,061,276

1,786,078 3,260,963

24.5 The compensation paid or payable to key management personnel is as follows:

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Salaries and other short-term benefits 3,060,479 2,847,269
Post-employment benefits 474,753 761,806

3,535,232 3,609,075

25. Ijarah muntahia bittamleek

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Income from Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 44,047,276 35,934,785
Depreciation (23,762,373) (23,823,800)

20,284,903 12,110,985
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26. Impairment allowance

2023 Credit loss  
as at  

1 January 
2023

Credit loss 
charged/ 

(reversal) for 
Discontinued 

Operations

Reclassified 
to held for 

sale

Credit loss  
charged/

(reversal)
for the year

Recovery  
from assets 
written off  

during  
the year

Credit loss 
as at

31 December 
2023

USD USD USD USD USD USD

Cash and cash equivalents 176,739 - (6,110) (7,451) - 163,178
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 36,084,738 (182,930) (24,255,151) 9,546,135 - 21,192,792
Sukuk investments 13,280,354 - (2,523) 1,969,149 - 15,246,980
Murabaha financing 56,787,718 - (1,374,132) (11,075,120) - 44,338,466
Installment sales financing 36,802,172 1,963,088 (15,846,799) 5,606,237 - 28,524,698
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 24,680,051 - - (725,295) - 23,954,756
Istisna’a assets 96,201 - - (63,369) - 32,832
Other assets 6,067,751 - (2,077,407) 3,596,442 - 7,586,786

173,975,724 1,780,158 (43,562,122) 8,846,728 - 141,040,488

Equity investments 20,916,622 - - 1,680,463 - 22,597,085
Sukuk Investments - - - 1,017,075 - 1,017,075

Total 194,892,346 1,780,158 (43,562,122) 11,544,266 - 164,654,648

2022 Credit loss as 
at 1 January 

2022

Acquisition 
during the year 

Reclassified to 
held for sale

Credit loss  
charged/
(reversal)

for the year

Recovery  
from assets 
written off  

during the year

Credit loss 
as at

31 December 
2022

USD USD USD USD USD USD

Cash and cash equivalents  655  161,603 -  14,481 - 176,739 
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements  14,078,240  24,438,467 - (2,431,969) -  36,084,738 
Sukuk investments  10,585,098  2,515 (313,825)  3,006,566 -  13,280,354 
Murabaha financing  48,982,542  2,718,820 -  4,201,209 885,147  56,787,718 
Installment sales financing  22,733,364  13,883,711 11,171,001 (10,985,904) - 36,802,172
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek  35,001,964  - - (10,321,913) -  24,680,051 
Istisna’a assets  1,629,527  - - (1,533,326) -  96,201 
Other assets  2,701,219 - (94,706) 3,461,238 - 6,067,751

 135,712,609 41,205,116 10,762,470 (14,589,618) 885,147  173,975,724 

Equity investments - - - 20,916,622 - 20,916,622

Total  135,712,609  41,205,116 10,762,470 6,327,004 885,147 194,892,346
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27. Net assets in foreign currencies

The currency wise breakdown of net assets in foreign currencies at the end of the year is as follows: 

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Azerbaijanian Manat 2,063,994  2,866,454 
CFA Franc (XOF) 101,001,146  105,495,285 
Egyptian Pound 9,327,175  11,573,826 
Euro 35,420,523  77,947,354 
Indonesian Rupiah 86,504  84,886 
Islamic Dinar 556  556 
Albania LEK 645,046  1,119,728 
Malaysian Ringgit (58,712)  (170,827)
Morocco Dirham 12,781,291  9,942,007 
Mauritania Ouguiya 35,403,518  38,340,857 
Pakistani Rupee 6,515,687  5,898,846 
Pound Sterling 119,390  13,458 
Maldives Rufiyaa 23,983,964  19,453,427 
Saudi Riyal (163,399,940)  (163,410,476)
Kyrgystani Som 1,241,337  1,063,631 
Tajikistani Somoni 1,191,655  998,665 
Sri Lanka Rupee 15,030,178  5,364,858 
Sudanese Pound 5,219,314  6,943,493 
Kazakhstani Tenge 8,923,073  8,296,490 
Trukish Lira 274,062  328,830 
Tunisian Dinar 26,640,069  23,986,557 
UAE Dirham 22,270  22,271 
Uzbekistan Sum 3,601,140  3,346,817 

111,003,063 159,506,993
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28. Concentration of assets 

28.1 Concentration of assets by geographical areas at the end of the year is as follows:

31 December 2023 Africa Asia Australia Europe Total

USD USD USD USD USD

Cash and cash equivalents 23,470,193 148,137,802 - 40,018,836 211,626,831
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 7,003,709 25,000,000 - - 32,003,709
Sukuk investments 28,829,022 1,493,312,520 - - 1,522,141,542
Murabaha financing 137,668,348 239,912,094 - - 377,580,442
Installment sales financing 208,938,832 99,103,169 - - 308,042,001
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek (IMB) net 58,515,340 171,710,808 - - 230,226,148
Istisna’a assets - 11,837,554 - - 11,837,554
Equity investments 116,033,805 52,577,322 - - 168,611,127
Investment in real estate properties 79,462,403 - - - 79,462,403
Other assets 10,188,564 34,765,744 - - 44,954,308
Assets held for sale 231,745,208 - - - 231,745,208

901,855,424 2,276,357,013 - 40,018,836 3,218,231,273

31 December 2022 Africa Asia Australia Europe Total

USD USD USD USD USD

Cash and cash equivalents 98,110,605 163,563,431 - 78,415,123 340,089,159
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 16,476,658 35,852,166 - - 52,328,824
Sukuk investments 46,538,509 1,606,886,875 - - 1,653,425,384
Murabaha financing 8,786,387 76,095,009 - - 84,881,396
Installment sales financing 278,102,597 225,113,810 - - 503,216,407
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 76,059,999 138,842,873 - - 214,902,872
Istisna’a assets - 13,559,552 - - 13,559,552
Equity investments 50,786,564 99,678,754 - - 150,465,318
Investment in real estate properties 77,679,145 - - - 77,679,145
Other assets 26,708,124 38,597,925 - - 65,306,049
Assets held for sale 1,150,000 - - - 1,150,000

680,398,588 2,398,190,395 - 78,415,123 3,157,004,106
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28.2 Concentration of assets by economic sector at the end of the year is analysed as under:

31 December 2023 Financial 
Services

Industry & 
Mining

Social  
Services

Others Total

USD USD USD USD USD

Cash and Bank Balances 211,626,831 - - 211,626,831
Commodity Placements through financial institutions 32,003,709 - - 32,003,709
Investments in Sukuk, shares and other securities 965,731,267 - 327,090,428 229,319,847 1,522,141,542
Murabaha financing 315,708,681 61,871,761 - 377,580,442
Installment sales financing 308,042,001 - - 308,042,001
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek (IMB) net - 230,226,148 - 230,226,148
Istisna’a assets - - 11,837,554 11,837,554
Equity investments 168,611,127 - - 168,611,127
Investment in real estate - - - 79,462,403 79,462,403
Other assets 44,541,265 413,043 - 44,954,308
Assets held for sale 231,745,208 - - 231,745,208

2,278,010,089 292,510,952 338,927,982 308,782,250 3,218,231,273

31 December 2022 Financial  
Services

Industry &  
Mining

Social Services Others Total

USD USD USD USD USD

Cash and Bank Balances 340,089,159  -   -   -  340,089,159
Commodity Placements through financial institutions 52,328,824  -   -   -  52,328,824
Investments in Sukuk, shares and other securities 1,065,230,477  -  364,227,580 223,967,327 1,653,425,384
Murabaha financing 29,390,159 30,026,167 2,845,872 22,619,198 84,881,396
Installment sales financing 497,650,221 5,566,186  -   -  503,216,407
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek (IMB) net  -  214,902,872  -   -  214,902,872
Istisna’a assets  -   -  13,559,552  -  13,559,552
Equity investments 150,465,318  -   -   -  150,465,318
Investment in real estate  -   -   -  77,679,145 77,679,145
Other assets 63,524,345 513,625  -  1,268,079 65,306,049
Assets held for sale 1,150,000  -   -   -  1,150,000

2,199,828,503 251,008,850 380,633,004 325,533,749 3,157,004,106
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29. Contractual maturities of assets and liabilities

The contractual maturities of the Group’s assets and liabilities according to their respective periods to maturity or expected period 
to cash conversion at the end of the year are as follows: 

31 December 2023 Less than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5  
years

Over 5
years

No fixed 
maturity

Total

USD USD USD USD USD USD

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 211,626,831 - - - - 211,626,831
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 32,003,709 - - - - 32,003,709

Investments in Sukuk, shares and other 
securities

130,463,874 962,366,264 54,524,387 294,001,699 80,785,318 1,522,141,542 

Murabaha Financing 9,823,772 189,282,020 172,256,173 6,218,477 - 377,580,442
Instalment Sales Financing 55,050,084 137,309,148 112,424,835 3,257,934 - 308,042,001
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 12,660,152 113,250,826 18,624,210 85,690,960 - 230,226,148
Istisna’a assets - - - 11,837,554 - 11,837,554
Equity Investments - - - - 168,611,127 168,611,127
Investments in real estate - - - - 79,462,403 79,462,403
Other Assets - 44,954,308 - - - 44,954,308
Assets held for sale - 231,745,208 - - - 231,745,208

451,628,422 1,678,907,774 357,829,605 401,006,624 328,858,848 3,218,231,273

Sukuk issued - - 806,456,783 - - 806,456,783
Commodity Murabaha financing liabilities 8,837,762 798,015,036 182,143,500 - - 988,996,298
Accrued and other liabilities - 22,806,546 9,541,874 32,348,420
Employee benefit liabilities - - - - 15,688,696 15,688,696

Amounts due to ICD Solidarity Fund 1,188,327 - - - - 1,188,327
Liabilities directly associated with assets 
classified as held for sale

- 432,205 - - 219,722,418 220,154,623

10,026,089 821,253,787 998,142,157 - 235,411,114 2,064,833,147 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

127Empowering Prosperity: Bridging Finance for Inclusive Growth and a Sustainable Future

ANNEXES



29. Contractual maturities of assets and liabilities (continued)

31 December 2022 Less than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5  
years

Over 5
years

No fixed 
maturity

Total

USD USD USD USD USD USD

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 340,089,159  -   -   -   -  340,089,159
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 52,328,824  -   -   -   -  52,328,824

Investments in Sukuk, shares and other 
securities

78,786,196 34,003,868 1,192,870,367 316,800,805 30,964,148 1,653,425,384

Murabaha Financing 4,299,485 6,224,190 24,838,959 49,518,762  -  84,881,396
Instalment Sales Financing 60,697,338 102,919,553 335,264,208 4,335,308  -  503,216,407
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 19,753,288  -  6,299,383 188,850,201  -  214,902,872
Istisna’a assets  -   -   -  13,559,552  -  13,559,552
Equity Investments  -   -   -   -  150,465,318 150,465,318
Investments in real estate  -   -   -   -  77,679,145 77,679,145
Other Assets  -  51,628,975 12,408,994   -  1,268,080 65,306,049
Assets held for sale  -  1,150,000  -   -   -  1,150,000

555,954,290 195,926,586 1,571,681,911 573,064,628 260,376,691 3,157,004,106

Sukuk issued  -   -   701,165,442  -   -   701,165,442 
Commodity Murabaha financing liabilities  135,535,201  300,528,766  524,185,887  100,442,908  -   1,060,692,762 
Accrued and other liabilities  -   17,776,895  210,426,571  -   -   228,203,466 

Employee benefit liabilities  -   -   -   -   11,191,013  11,191,013 

Amounts due to ICD Solidarity Fund  1,188,550  -   -   -   -   1,188,550 

136,723,751 318,305,661 1,435,777,900 100,442,908 11,191,013 2,002,441,233
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30. Shari’ah supervision

According to Article 29 (1) of the Articles of Agreement of the Corporation, the Group shall have a Shari’ah Board. As a  
member of the IsDB group, the Group utilizes the IsDB Group Shari’ah Board. The Group Shari’ah Board was established 
pursuant to a Resolution of the Board of Executive Directors of IsDB. The members of the Board are appointed for 3 years  
and may be reappointed.

The Group Shari’ah Board has the following functions:

-  to consider all products introduced by the IsDB, its affiliates and trust funds for use for the first time and rule on their 
conformity with the principles of the Islamic Shari’ah, and lay down basic principles for drafting of related contracts and  
other documents;

-  to give its opinion on the Shari’ah alternatives to conventional products which the IsDB, its affiliates and trust funds intend 
to use, and to lay down basic principles for drafting of related contracts and other documents and contribute to their 
development with a view to enhancing the IsDB’s, its affiliates’ and trust funds’ experience in this regard;

-  to respond to the Shari’ah related questions, enquiries and explications referred to it by the Board of Executive Directors or 
the management of the IsDB, its affiliates and trust funds;

-  to contribute to the IsDB, its affiliates and trust funds programme for enhancing the awareness of its staff members of 
Islamic banking and deepen their understanding of the fundamentals, principles, rules and values relative to Islamic financial 
transactions; and

-  to submit to the Board of Executive Directors of the IsDB, its affiliates and trust funds a comprehensive report showing the 
measure of the IsDB’s, its affiliates’ and trust funds’ commitment to principles of Shari’ah in the light of the opinions and 
directions given and the transactions reviewed.

31. Risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to various risks (credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk) associated with the use of financial 
instruments. Senior management, under the supervision of the Board, oversees and manages the risks associated with the 
financial instruments. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur  
a financial loss. 

The Group is exposed to credit risk in both its financing operations and its treasury activities. Credit risk arises because 
beneficiaries and treasury counterparties could default on their contractual obligations or the Group’s financial assets could 
decline in value.

For all classes of financial assets held by the Group, the maximum credit risk exposure is their carrying value as disclosed in 
the consolidated statement of financial position. The assets which subject the Group to credit risk principally consist of bank 
balances, Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements, Sukuk investments, Murabaha financing, Installment sales financing, 
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, Istisna’a assets and other assets. This risk is mitigated as follows:

•  Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements and Sukuk investments are managed by the Group’s treasury department. The 
Group has made placements with financial institutions under the arrangement of Murabaha financing. Adequate due diligence 
is exercised prior to investments and as at the period end, management considers that there are no material credit risks 
posed by these investments. 
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•  The Group evaluates Murabaha financing, installment sales, Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek and Istisna’a financing (financing 
assets). Credit evaluation is performed internally, and external expertise is used where required. The Executive Committee 
of the Board of Directors of the Group approves all the financing. Such financing is generally secured against adequate 
security for financing. Under Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek contracts, the Group is the owner of the related asset which is only 
transferred to the beneficiary upon payment of all the installments due at the end of the lease term. The net book value 
of Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek assets after taking allowance for impairment as disclosed in the consolidated statement of 
financial position was considered fully recoverable by the management of the Group.

The Group applies a three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECLs).

i. Determining the stage for impairment
The Group’s staging model relies on a relative assessment of credit risk, because it reflects the significance increase in credit risk 
(SICR) since initial recognition of an asset. The staging assessment is made at the contract level rather than counterparty level, 
since the quantum of change in credit risk may be different for different contracts belonging to the same obligor. Also, different 
contracts of the same counterparty may have different credit risk at initial recognition. 

Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or that have 
low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or 
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definition and has not suffered a significant downgrade.

Stage 2 includes financial assets that experience an SICR. When determining whether the risk of default has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on 
the Group’s historical experience and expert credit risk assessment, including forward looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on 
its sovereign and non-sovereign exposures has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are 
more than 90 days past due for sovereign financings and more than 30 days past due for non-sovereign financings on a material 
repayment amount. When a stage 2 instrument shows a significant enhancement in credit quality at the assessment date, it can 
move back to stage 1.

Where there is objective evidence that an identified financial asset is impaired, specific provisions for impairment are recognized 
in the consolidated income statement, and under FAS 30, the asset is classified in Stage 3. The Group presumes that assets are 
credit-impaired when contractual payments are more than 180 days past due for sovereign financings and more than 90 days 
past due for non-sovereign financings on a material repayment amount. Besides, the Group may consider an asset as impaired 
if it assesses that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as 
realizing security.

A financial asset is no longer considered impaired when all past due amounts have been recovered, and it is determined that 
the outstanding amounts with future expected income are fully collectable in accordance with the original contractual terms or 
revised terms of the financial instrument with all criteria for the impaired classification having been remedied. The financial asset 
will be transferred back to stage 2 after a cure period.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk 
before the amount becomes past due.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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ii. Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECLs)
ECL represents the average credit losses weighted by the probabilities of default (PD), whereby credit losses are defined as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls. The ECL is calculated for both Stage 1 and Stage 2 instruments by multiplying three main 
components, being the probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD), and discounting 
the resulting provision using the instrument’s effective profit rate (EPR). 

These ECL parameters are generally derived from internally developed models and other historical data. They are adjusted to 
reflect forward-looking information as described below.

PD represents the likelihood of a counterpart defaulting on its financial obligation over different time horizon (e.g., 1 year or 
lifetime). The estimates the PDs using internal rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. 
These internal rating models are based on internally and externally compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative 
factors. They produce a relative credit risk grading, which is in turn are associated with a likelihood of default (PD) over a one-year 
horizon, that is calibrated to reflect the Group’s long run average default rate estimates (through-the-cycle (TTC) PD). The Group 
uses a specific model based on country and industry parametrization to convert its TTC PDs into point-in time (PIT) PDs and 
derives a PIT PD term structure.

LGD is the magnitude of the potential loss in the event of a default. This is generally estimated as value lost plus costs net 
of recovery (if any) as percentage of outstanding amount. The Group uses internal LGD estimation models that consider the 
structure, collateral, and seniority of the claim and the counterparty rating and jurisdiction. LGD estimates are calibrated to reflect 
the recovery experience of the Group as well as the Multilateral Development Banks’ consortium data.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to 
the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract including amortization. The EAD 
of a financial instrument is its gross carrying amount. For contract under disbursement and financial commitments such as 
guarantees, letter of credit, the EAD includes the amount drawn, as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn under 
the contract.

FAS 30 requires ECLs to be forward-looking. The Group uses a statistical model that links its counterparties’ future performance 
to the current and future state of the macroeconomic environment. The model links macroeconomic scenarios to counterparty’s 
default risk. Macroeconomic factors taken into consideration include, but are not limited to, gross domestic product, equity 
market prices, unemployment rates, and commodity prices and these require an evaluation of both the current and forecast 
direction of the macro-economic cycle. The Group estimates its ECLs by calculating the weighted average ECL of its exposures 
across three (3) set of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios.

iii. Exposure Amounts and ECL coverage
The Group recognizes 12-month ECL for stage 1 instruments and lifetime ECL for stage 2 instruments. For stage 3 instruments, 
it calculates a loss allowance amount based on the difference between the carrying amount of the instrument and the net 
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the instrument’s original effective profit rate (EPR) where applicable.
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Tables below present the breakdown of gross exposure amount and ECL by mode of finance, for financial instruments measured 
at amortized cost as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

An analysis of changes in the financial assets before ECL allowance and the corresponding ECL allowance is as follows:

Description 31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD USD USD USD

Gross carrying amount before ECL:
Cash and cash equivalents 211,790,009 - - 211,790,009
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 25,000,000 - 28,196,502 53,196,502
Sukuk investments 1,413,756,018 33,279,163 10,585,098 1,457,620,279
Murabaha financing 371,180,655 8,084,331 42,653,922 421,918,908
Installment sales financing 252,318,487 67,827,215 16,420,997 336,566,699
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 120,852,164 115,262,709 18,066,031 254,180,904
Istisna’a assets 11,870,386 - - 11,870,386
Other assets 899,026 191,696 8,384,697 9,475,419

2,407,666,745 224,645,114 124,307,247 2,756,619,106

Equity investments - - - 191,208,212

2,407,666,745 224,645,114 124,307,247 2,947,827,318

Description 31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD USD USD USD

ECL:
Cash and cash equivalents 163,178 - - 163,178
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements - - 21,192,793 21,192,793
Sukuk investments 689,063 3,972,819 10,585,098 15,246,980
Murabaha financing 1,596,233 88,310 42,653,923 44,338,466
Installment sales financing 14,632,999 1,910,009 11,981,690 28,524,698
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 1,811,202 4,077,523 18,066,031 23,954,756
Istisna’a assets 32,832 - - 32,832
Other assets - - 7,586,787 7,586,787

18,925,507 10,048,661 112,066,322 141,040,490

Sukuk investments - - -     1,017,075
Equity investments - - - 22,597,085

18,925,507 10,048,661 112,066,322 164,654,650
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Description 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD USD USD USD

Gross carrying amount before ECL:
Cash and cash equivalents 340,251,153 - 14,745  340,265,898 
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 36,000,000 - 52,413,562  88,413,562 
Sukuk investments 1,085,680,311  8,007,369  10,585,098 1,104,272,778
Murabaha financing 80,507,194  7,291,777  53,870,143  141,669,114 
Installment sales financing 386,902,409  68,808,434 84,307,736 540,018,579
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 99,399,979  120,201,959  19,980,985  239,582,923 
Istisna’a assets 13,655,753  -   -  13,655,753
Other assets 2,184,449  42,914 24,693,886 26,921,249

2,044,581,248 204,352,453 245,866,155 2,494,799,856

Equity investments - - -  171,381,939 

2,044,581,248 204,352,453 245,866,155 2,666,181,795 

Description 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD USD USD USD

ECL:
Cash and cash equivalents 161,994 - 14,745 176,739
Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements 147,834 - 35,936,904 36,084,738
Sukuk investments  2,662,896 32,360 10,585,098 13,280,354
Murabaha financing  2,732,632 184,943 53,870,143 56,787,718
Installment sales financing  9,765,877 4,112,342 22,923,953 36,802,172
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek  592,994 4,355,729 19,731,328 24,680,051
Istisna’a assets  96,201 - - 96,201
Other assets  -  - 6,067,751 6,067,751

16,160,428 8,685,374 149,129,922 173,975,724

Equity investments - - -  20,916,622 

16,160,428 8,685,374 149,129,922 194,892,346 
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An analysis of changes in ECL allowances in relation to Group’s financial assets were as follows:

31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD USD USD USD

Provisions as at 1 January 2023 16,160,428 8,685,372 149,129,926 173,975,726
New assets originated or purchased 9,717,450 435,528 - 10,152,978
Assets repaid (3,732,577) (72,782) (40,458,206) (44,263,565)
Transfer from stage 1 to Stage 2 (295,375) 1,995,641 - 1,700,266
Transfer from stage 1 to Stage 3 (160,532) - 38,803 (121,729)
Transfer from stage 2 to Stage 1 727,938 (1,863,875) - (1,135,937)
Transfer from stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,328,405) 4,068,532 2,740,127
Increase/decrease provision (3,491,825) 2,197,182 (712,733) (2,007,376)

18,925,507 10,048,661 112,066,322 141,040,490

Sukuk investments - - -     1,017,075
Equity investments - - - 22,597,085

Provisions as at 31 December 2023 164,654,650

31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USD USD USD USD

Provisions as at 1 January 2022 8,148,636 9,238,244 118,325,729 135,712,609 
New assets originated or purchased 7,529,149 1,969,998 41,205,116 50,704,263
Assets repaid (45,797) (321,789) (11,088,829) (11,456,415)
Transfer from stage 1 to Stage 2 (5,675) 57,681  -  52,006 
Transfer from stage 3 to Stage 3  -  936,860 (12,327,519) (11,390,659)
Transfer from stage 3 to Stage 1 252,598  -  (557,956) (305,358)
Increase/decrease provision 281,517 (3,195,620) 13,573,381 10,659,278

16,160,428 8,685,374 149,129,92 173,975,724

Equity investments - - - 20,916,622

Provisions as at 31 December 2022 194,892,346
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The Group obtains adequate guarantees and employs other methods of credit enhancements that will protect the value of its 
investments. Guarantees and securities obtained by the Group include bank guarantees, corporate guarantees, pledge of assets, 
possession of title to the property being financed, etc. In general, the value of guarantees or other credit enhancements held by 
the Group against these assets as of the reporting date were considered adequate to cover the outstanding exposures. Where 
the Group’s management and its provisioning committee assessed that value of the receivable may not be fully recovered, an 
appropriate impairment is recorded. The policy of the Group in respect of securities and guarantees for term finance operations is 
that the sum of the securities package will be equal to or greater than 125% of the value of the assets financed.

Market Risk 
The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risks, mark-up rate risk 
and equity price risks.

Currency risk
Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rates will affect the value of the financial assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, in case the entity does not hedge its currency exposure by means of hedging 
instruments.

The Group is exposed to currency risk as a portion of its liquid fund portfolio and some of the equity investments are in 
currencies other than US Dollars; the reporting currency of the Group. The Group has minimized its exposure to currency risk 
on liquid funds by ensuring that all liquid funds transactions are in US Dollars or currencies pegged to US Dollar. For monetary 
assets and liabilities foreign currency risk is managed through the alignment of the Islamic foreign currency denominated assets 
and liabilities. 

The Group is exposed to market risks arising from adverse changes in foreign exchange for Sukuk transaction denominated in a 
foreign currency. The Group manages these risks through a variety of strategies, including foreign currency forward contracts.

Mark‑up rate risk
Mark-up rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in mark-up rates will affect the value of the financial instruments (fair 
value mark-up rate risk) or the future cash flows (cash flow mark-up rate risk) and the resultant reported incomes or losses. The 
Group is exposed to changes in mark-up rates mainly on its placements, Sukuk investments, Murabaha, Installment Sales, Ijarah 
Muntahia Bittamleek, Istisna’a financing, Sukuk issued and Commodity Murabaha financing due to changes in the mark-up rates 
prevailing in the markets. 

In order to manage cash flow mark-up rate risk, the Board approved an “Asset and Liability Management policy” which requires 
that the Group follow the matched-funding principle in managing its assets and liabilities as well as profit rate swaps. Thus, the 
Group ensures that the mark-up rate basis and currencies of all debt-funded assets match those of the underlying liabilities. Such 
approach ensures that the Group’s investment income spread remains largely constant regardless of mark-up rate and exchange 
rate movements.

Majority of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are of short-term nature. However, certain financing products, Sukuk 
investments and Sukuk issued are with fixed rate and of long-term nature and expose the Group to fair value mark-up rate risk. 
Management, periodically, assess the applicable market rates and assess the carrying value of these financing products. 

As of the consolidated statement of financial position date, management believe that an estimated shift of 25 basis points in the 
market mark-up rates would not materially expose the Group to cash flow or fair value mark-up rate risk. 

Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk on its investments held at fair value. The Group has only one investment which is listed 
and, accordingly, the Group is not materially exposed to significant price risk.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the non-availability of sufficient funds to meet disbursements and other financial commitments as they fall due. 

To guard against this risk, the Group follows a conservative approach by maintaining high liquidity levels invested in cash and 
cash equivalents, Commodity Murabaha and Wakala placements and Murabaha financing with short-term maturity of three to 
twelve months. Please see note 30 for the maturity schedule of the assets. 

Shari’ah non‑compliance Risk
The Group defines Shari’ah non-compliance risk as the risk of losses resulting from non-adherence to Shari’ah rules and 
principles as determined by the IsDB Group Shari’ah Board. The Group attaches value in safeguarding its operations from Shari’ah 
non-compliance risk (SNCR). Shari’ah compliance forms an integral part of ICD’s purpose in line with its Articles of Agreement. 
Consequently, the Group effectively manage SNCR through leveraging on the IsDB Group wide robust framework of procedures 
and policies. The business or risk-taking unit, as the 1st line of defence, embeds a culture of Shari’ah compliance, while the 
Shari’ah Compliance function of IsDB Group serves as the 2nd line of defence to strategically manage and monitor SNCR pre-
execution of transactions / operations. IsDB Group’s internal Shari’ah Audit function provides independent reasonable assurance 
as the 3rd line of defence post-execution of transactions/operations adopting a risk-based internal Shari’ah audit methodology.

32. Fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. Consequently, differences can arise between carrying values and fair value estimates. 

Fair valuation with respect to investments, is disclosed in note 7.

All of the Groups’ Islamic derivatives are unquoted. Their fair values are estimated using a valuation technique and, accordingly,  
are level 3. 

The carrying value of the Group’s all other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values.

33. Commitments

In the normal course of business, the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-statement of financial position risk. These 
instruments comprise commitments to make project related disbursements, equity contribution commitments and other items 
and are not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-statement of financial position 
commitments as it does for on-statement of financial position operations.

31 December 2023 
USD

31 December 2022 
USD

Murabaha financing 25,000,000 -
Installment sales financing 83,182,424 83,803,592
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek - -

108,182,424 83,803,592
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34. Effects of new and revised financial accounting standards

The following new financial accounting standards (“FAS”) of The Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial 
Institutions (“AAOIFI”), which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, have been adopted  
in these financial statements if found to be applicable. 

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 39 “Financial Reporting for Zakah”
This standard aims at setting out accounting treatment of Zakah in the books of an Islamic financial institution, including the 
presentation and disclosure in its financial statements. The objective of this standard is to establish the principles of financial 
reporting related to Zakah attributable to different stakeholders of an Islamic financial institution. This standard shall be effective 
for the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with early adoption permitted. The Group has evaluated the impact 
of this standard and concluded that it is not applicable as the Group is not a zakah payer.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 41 “Interim Financial Reporting”
This standard prescribes the principles for the preparation of interim financial reports and the relevant presentation and 
disclosure requirements, emphasizing the minimum disclosures specific to the Islamic financial institutions in line with  
AAOIFI FAS.

The standard considers and aligns with the relevant requirements with FAS 1 “General Presentation and Disclosures in the 
Financial Statements” and other recently issued / revised FASs. This standard also provides an option for an institution to prepare 
and publish a complete set of financial statements at interim reporting dates in line with the respective FASs. This standard shall 
be effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The Group has evaluated the requirements of the standard and concluded that it is not applicable on the Group. The Group, being 
a supranatural institution, is not required under law or regulation to prepare interim financial reports neither it prepares interim 
financial reports on a voluntary basis.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 44 “Determining Control of Assets and Business”
This standard prescribes the criteria of obtaining control of assets, i.e., having risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
assets, including those related to underlying assets of instruments such as Sukuk and participatory arrangements such as 
Mudaraba, Musharaka and Wakala. Furthermore, the standard addresses circumstances when control is lost.

This standard also sets out the principles for assessing the need to consolidate financial statements in case an institution 
controls a business, taking the form of an independent legal entity. This standard shall be effective for the financial periods  
ended 31 December 2023. The Group has evaluated the provisions of this standard and concluded that the Group is already  
in compliance with the requirements of the Standard.
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35. Standards issued but not yet effective

The following new FASs have been issued. The Group intends to adopt these financial reporting standards when they become 
effective and is currently assessing the impact of these new FASs on its financial statements and systems.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 40 “Financial Reporting for Islamic Finance Windows”
The objective of this standard is to establish financial reporting requirements for Islamic financial services offered by conventional 
financial institutions (in the form of Islamic finance windows). This standard shall be effective on the financial statements of 
the Islamic finance window of conventional financial institutions for the periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 with 
early adoption permitted, subject to simultaneous compliance of Financial Accounting Standard – 1 (Revised 2021) “General 
Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements”. This standard is not applicable to the Group as it is not a conventional 
financial institution.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 1 (Revised 2021) “General Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements”
The revised FAS 1 describes and improves the overall presentation and disclosure requirements prescribed in line with the 
global best practices and supersedes the earlier FAS 1. It is applicable on all the Islamic financial institutions and other institutions 
following AAOIFI FASs. This standard sets out the overall requirements for presentation of financial statements, the minimum 
requirements for the contents of the financial statements and a recommended structure of financial statements that facilitate 
faithful presentation in line with Shari’ah principles and rules and comparability with the institution’s financial statements of 
previous periods, and the financial statements of other institutions. This standard shall be effective on the financial statements of 
the institutions beginning on or after 1 January 2024 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the impact 
of this standard on its financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 42 “Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Takaful Institutions”
This standard sets out the principles for the presentation and disclosure for the financial statements of Takaful institutions. 
It aims to ensure that the Takaful institutions faithfully present the information related to these arrangements to the relevant 
stakeholders as per the contractual relationship between the parties and the business model of the Takaful business in line with 
the Shari’ah principles and rules.

This standard improves the presentation and disclosure requirements, in line with the global best practices, and supersedes  
the existing FAS 12 “General Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Islamic Insurance Companies”.

This standard shall be effective on the annual financial statements of the Takaful institutions beginning on or after 01 January 
2025. FAS 42 shall not impact the financial statements as the Group is not a Takaful institution.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 43 “Accounting for Takaful: Recognition and Measurement”
This standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and reporting of Takaful arrangements and ancillary 
transactions for the Takaful institutions. It aims to ensure that the Takaful institutions faithfully present the information related to 
these arrangements to the relevant stakeholders as per the contractual relationship between the parties and the business model 
of the Takaful business in line with the Shari’ah principles and rules. The requirements of this standard are duly aligned with the 
international best practices of financial reporting for the insurance business.

This standard shall be effective on the financial statements of the Takaful institution for the annual financial reporting period 
beginning on or after 01 January 2025. FAS 43 shall not impact the financial statements as the Group is not a Takaful institution.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 45 “Quasi‑Equity (including Investment Accounts)”
This standard prescribes the principles of financial reporting related to the participatory investment instruments (including 
investment accounts) in which an Islamic financial institution controls the underlying assets (mostly, as a working partner), on 
behalf of the stakeholders other than the owners’ equity. Such instruments (including, in particular, the unrestricted investment 
accounts) normally qualify for on-balance sheet accounting and are reported as quasi-equity.
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This standard provides the overall criteria for on-balance-sheet accounting for participatory investment instruments and quasi-
equity, as well as, pooling, recognition, derecognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of quasi-equity. It further 
addresses financial reporting related to other quasi-equity instruments and certain specific issues.

This standard shall be effective for the financial reporting period beginning on or after 01 January 2026 with early adoption 
permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 46 “Off‑Balance‑Sheet Assets Under Management”
This standard prescribes the criteria for characterization of off-balance sheet assets under management and the related principles 
of financial reporting in line with the “AAOIFI conceptual framework for financial reporting”.

This standard encompasses the aspects of recognition, derecognition, measurement, selection and adoption of accounting 
policies etc relating to off balance sheet assets under management, as well as, certain specific aspects of financial reporting, 
e.g. impairment and onerous commitments by the institution. The standard also includes the presentation and disclosure 
requirements, particularly aligning the same with the requirements of FAS 1 “General Presentation and Disclosures in the 
Financial Statements” in respect of the Statement of changes in the off balance sheet assets under management.

This standard shall be effective for the financial reporting period beginning on or after 01 January 2026 with early adoption 
permitted. This standard shall be adopted at the same time as adoption of FAS 45 “Quasi-Equity (including Investment 
Accounts)”. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standard ‑ 47 “Transfer of Assets Between Investment Pools”
This standard prescribes the financial reporting principles and disclosure requirements applicable to all transfer of assets 
between investment pools related to (and where material, between significant categories of) owners’ equity, quasi-equity and 
off-balance sheet assets under management of an institution. It requires adoption and consistent application of accounting 
policies for such transfers in line with Sha’riah principles and rules and describes general disclosure requirements in this respect.

This standard shall be effective for the financial reporting period beginning on or after 01 January 2026 with early adoption 
permitted. The Standard is not applicable to the Group as it does not have investment pools.
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36. Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

During 2023, the Group decided to sell certain entities which were classified as held for sale. The result of operations of these 
entities were also presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement with the comparatives for 2022 
also re-presented.
a) Banque Islamic Guinea (“BIG”)

Islamic Bank of Guinea (BIG), with a carrying value of USD 8 million and in which the Corporation held a 68.4% equity stake, 
was sold for USD 15.8 million in December 2023. However, the legal transfer process is yet to be finalized. Consequently, the 
investment has been classified as held for sale as at December 31, 2023.

The results of the discontinued operations of BIG, which have been included in the profit for the year, were as follows:

2023 
USD

2022 
USD

NET INCOME
Income from financing assets 9,459,596 5,993,129
Other income 10,094,214 8,508,679

Net income 19,553,810 14,501,808

OPERATING EXPENSES
Staff costs (5,907,259) (4,622,346)
Other administrative expenses (4,866,942) (3,808,312)
Depreciation (1,768,824) (1,107,125)

Total operating expenses (12,543,025) (9,537,783)

Net operating income before impairment charges    7,010,785 4,964,025

Impairment loss (1,963,088) (11,171,001)

Net profit for the year before taxation 5,047,697 (6,206,976)

Income tax (648,496) (674,912)

Net profit for the year 4,399,201 (6,881,888)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations classified as held for sale are as follows:

31 December 2023 
USD

Cash and cash equivalents      45,407,996 
Installment sales financing      93,615,234 
Investments in Sukuk, shares and other securities      46,616,159 
Other assets      45,765,708 

Total assets classified as held for sale 231,405,097

Total liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (219,722,418)

Net assets 11,682,679

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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b) ICD Money Market Fund LLP (“MMF”)

ICD and ICD Asset Management Labuan (entirely owned by ICD), as limited partners in the ICD Money Market Fund LLP (MMF), 
reached an agreement with all the unit holders to redeem their entire investment units from the fund. Consequently, ICD and ICD 
Asset Management Labuan have completed their redemption by receiving full amounts in May 2023 and June 2023, respectively. 
As of the redemption date, ICD held 81.69% of MMF. Following this redemption, the fund was liquidated and dissolved.

The results of the discontinued operations of ICD Money Market Fund LLP (MMF), which have been included in the profit for the 
year, were as follows:

2023 
USD

2022 
USD

NET INCOME
Income from commodity placement 1,091,965 1,268,647
Income from sukuk investments 672,381 1,774,941
Other expense (153,562) (4,050,723)

Net income 1,610,784 (1,007,135)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Other administrative expenses (544,140) (371,677)

Total operating expenses (544,140) (371,677)

Net operating income before impairment charges     1,066,644 (1,378,812)

Impairment reversals 182,930 313,825

Net profit for the year 1,249,574 (1,064,987)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of ICD Money Market Fund LLP (MMF) at the date of redemption is as follows:

At the date of redemption 
USD

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 45,939,462
Placements with banks and financial institutions 13,885,785
Investments in Sukuk 23,691,178
Other assets 3,002,162

Total assets 86,518,587

Liabilities
Accrued and Other Liabilities 690,272

Total liabilities 690,272

Net assets redeemed 85,828,315

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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c) Azerbaijan Leasing
Azerbaijan Leasing with a negative carrying value of USD 92k, in which the Corporation held a 100% equity stake,  
was sold for USD 6.5k in January 2024. Therefore, the investment is classified as held for sale

The results of the discontinued operations of Azerbaijan Leasing, which have been included in the profit for the year,  
were as follows:

2023 
USD

2022 
USD

NET INCOME
Other income 11,176 15,294

Total income 11,176 15,294

Financing cost (12,454)   (12,353)

Net loss/(income) (1,278) 2,941

OPERATING EXPENSES
Staff costs (79,923) (108,235)
Other administrative expenses (13,914) (70,000)
Depreciation (3,388) (10,589)

Total operating expenses (97,225) (188,824)

Net operating income before impairment charges        (98,503) (185,883)

Impairment reversals - 94,706

Net profit for the year (98,503) (91,177)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations classified as held for sale are as follows:

31 December 2023 
USD

Cash and cash equivalents 6,054
Installment sales financing -
Investments in Sukuk, shares and other securities -
Other assets 334,057

Total assets classified as held for sale 340,111

Total liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (432,205)

Net assets 92,094

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

d) Islamic Bank of Niger (BIN)
In 2022, the Group disposed of 100% shares of Islamic Bank of Niger (BIN) at net book value of USD 17.3 million. The disposal 
was completed on 22 July 2022.

The results of the discontinued operations (BIN), which have been included in the profit for the year, were as follows:

2023 2022

Other Income - 6,345,050
Other administrative expenses - (5,536,508)

Net profit before zakat - 808,542

Zakat - -

Net profit for the year - 808,542

37. Authorization for issue 

The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 19 March 
2024 (corresponding to 9 Ramadan 1445 AH).
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Annex 5: IsDB Group Shari’ah Board Annual Shari’ah Report  
FOR 1444H/1445H

بسم الله الرحمن الرحيم

Shari’ah Audit Report  
for 1444H/1445H

All praise is due to Allah,  
the Lord of the universe. 
May Allah blessings and peace 
be upon Prophet Muhammad 
and upon his household  
and companions

H.E. Chairman of the Board of Governors, 
Honorable Members of the Board of Governors,

Assalamu alaikum warahmatullahi wabarakatuh

According to the regulations of the Shari’ah Board of the 
Islamic Development Bank Group (IsDB Group), we are 
required to submit an annual Shari’ah Audit Report to the 
honorable Board of Governors on the extent to which the 
transactions and activities conducted by the IsDB Group 
comply with Shari’ah, in light of the fatwas and decisions 
issued by the Shari’ah Board and its sub-committee. We have 
reviewed the activities of the Group for the year 1444/1445 
through the sub-committee – in accordance with the 
approach practiced by the Board - which has carried out an 
overall audit of the applied principles as well as the contracts 
pertaining to the transactions and applications that have been 
presented to us. This includes the IsDB Group (Ordinary 
Capital Resources), the Special Account Resources Waqf 
Fund (Waqf Fund), the Islamic Corporation for the Insurance 
of Investment and Export Credit, the Islamic Corporation 
for the Development of the Private Sector, the International 
Islamic Trade Finance Corporation, the Islamic Solidarity Fund 
for Development, the Awqaf Properties Investment Fund, 
the World Waqf Foundation, and all funds managed by IsDB 
during the year ending on 31 December 2023G (18 Jumada 
Al-akhirah 1445H). 

We have undertaken the audit required with the help of 
Sahri’ah Affairs Division to give an opinion on whether the 
IsDB Group has complied with the rules and principles of the 
Shari’ah as well as the specific Fatwas, decisions, rulings, 
and guidelines that we have issued. 

The responsibility of ensuring the IsDB Group’s compliance 
with the Shari’ah rules and principles lies with the 
management of the IsDB Group, while our responsibility is 
limited to expressing an independent Shari’ah opinion based 
on our audit of the IsDB Group’s operations. 

We planned and carried out our audit to obtain every fact and 
explanation that we deemed necessary to provide us with 
enough proof to reasonably confirm that the IsDB Group has 
not contravened the rules and principles of the Shari’ah. 
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In our opinion
1.  The IsDB Group has followed the procedures required to 

comply with the contracts that we have prepared  
and audited. 

2.  The dividends paid and the losses incurred on the 
investment accounts are in conformity with the basis 
that we adopted in line with the rules and principles of 
the Shari’ah. 

3.  All gains achieved from transactions or methods 
prohibited by Shari’ah have been set aside in accordance 
with the decisions issued by us in preparation for 
spending them for charitable purposes with our 
clearance.

4.  The IsDB Group is not obligated to pay Zakat because 
the sources of its assets are either from public or Waqf 
funds. As for the funds of other institutions, IsDB Group 
does not pay Zakat on behalf of their owners without 
their authorization. Accordingly, the payment of Zakat of 
these funds is the sole responsibility of their owners.

We pray that Allah the Almighty enable the IsDB Group to 
follow the right path in the interest of the Ummah.

Wassalamu alaikum warahmatullahi 
wabarakatuhu

His Eminence Dr. Mohamed Ali Elgari  
Chairman of the Shari’ah Board

Jeddah, 19 Shaaban 1445H (29 Feb 2024)

His Eminence Dr. Mufti Muhammad 
Hassaan Kaleem 
Member of the Shari’ah Board

His Eminence Dr. Nizam Yaqoobi 
Deputy Chairman of the Shari’ah Board 

His Eminence Dr. Aznan Hasan  
Member of the Shari’ah Board

His Eminence Dr. Sa’id Adekunle Mikail  
Member of the Shari’ah Board

Dr. Abdallahi Mohamed 
Acting Manager of the Shari’ah Affairs Division
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